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          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Welcome to City

          3  Hall and to the third part of a series,  In Search

          4  of a Blueprint for the Cultural Community. This is

          5  part three. Strategies to Address the Issues Facing

          6  the Performing Arts Community in New York City.

          7                 And before we get started, I would

          8  just like to introduce my full staff of the Cultural

          9  Committee, because we made some changes. Mari De

         10  Pedro, to my right, is my attorney. She is still

         11  going to be with us. To my left is Jake Herring, the

         12  Finance person. He is the one in charge of money. He

         13  is going to be with this Committee now. We now have

         14  a full-time Finance person, which is something this

         15  Committee never had, because of the extraordinary

         16  work that we're doing. And we're moving in the right

         17  direction, and hopefully under the next Speaker they

         18  reappoint me. We have a lot of good plans, and we

         19  just look forward to working with everyone.

         20                 And over to my far left is Josh

         21  Nachowitz. He is going to be the new policy person

         22  for the Committee. He is no longer going to be my

         23  chief of staff. He's going to work with the cultural

         24  community full-time. So, that's the new staffing for

         25  this wonderful committee.

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 I also would like to start off by

          3  wishing, while we have everyone here because people

          4  leave and stuff, I want to wish everyone a happy and

          5  healthy holiday season. Enjoy yourself. Come on back

          6  for the January 4th meeting of the City Council for

          7  the big vote on who will be the next Speaker, then

          8  once we know who the next Speaker is, then we can

          9  start working for our goals for 2006, and we'll

         10  definitely, we'll all be working together, and like

         11  I said, I hope to be reappointed. I enjoy this

         12  Committee. I enjoy being out there for the entire

         13  community, and I think it's important that we have

         14  dialogue going, and we continue to work together.

         15                 This afternoon I welcome you to this

         16  important hearing. Today's hearing is, like I said

         17  earlier, our third part in a series entitled In

         18  Search of a Blueprint for the Cultural Community.

         19                 Today we will hear from activists,

         20  research and industry leaders about solutions to the

         21  issues raised in our last two hearings.

         22                 We will also consider Resolution 1152

         23  if we have a quorum, which would declare the last

         24  week in January to be Live Theater Week. And I just

         25  want to go into that a little bit. We are continuing
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          2  with our Committee on working on Live Theater Week

          3  and it's going to be something that's going to be

          4  extraordinary in the City Council and we already met

          5  once, we're going to have another meeting before the

          6  holidays, I believe, and then we're going to take it

          7  from there.

          8                 New York's diverse and vibrant

          9  performing arts community is a vital part of our

         10  regional economic engine, as well as the City

         11  dynamic cultural life.

         12                 While this Committee has heard

         13  voluminous testimony as to the importance of the

         14  theater, we have also heard of the many problems

         15  affecting this important economic sector.

         16                 Performing arts organizations suffer

         17  from many of the same problems that plague other

         18  arts groups in New York. The lack of affordable

         19  housing, as well as the difficulty in finding

         20  affordable performance and rehearsal space is a

         21  major issue.

         22                 These organizations are also forced

         23  to overcome numerous hurdles, such as lack of

         24  affordable health care, management difficulties

         25  stemming from problems obtaining basic business

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  instruments.

          3                 It is crucial that the City

          4  government steps up to the plate and address these

          5  issues.

          6                 The performing arts, like the rest of

          7  our rich culture scene are vital to the current and

          8  future economics of our City.

          9                 Other cities, both in the US and

         10  abroad, are adopting far more proactive policies to

         11  support culture than we are. New York policy leaders

         12  cannot afford to drop the ball and risk losing our

         13  edge in the creative economy.

         14                 I want to welcome everyone here

         15  today. I just want you to know that we have to work

         16  together in really moving forward, because we have

         17  to send the message to all my colleagues in the City

         18  Council and to the Mayor's Office, that in order for

         19  us to thrive, we need help from government.

         20                 Call the first panel.

         21                 MS. DE PEDRO: Good afternoon. The

         22  first panel will consist of Ted Berger, New York

         23  Foundation for the Arts, Norma Munn, New York City

         24  Arts Coalition, and Robin Keegan, Center for an

         25  Urban Future.

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Norma, would you

          3  like to start?

          4                 MS. MUNN: Thank you, Domenic, and

          5  thank you for the opportunity to testify today.

          6                 I have to preface my testimony by

          7  saying that many of the issues we're discussing not

          8  only affect the performing arts but the rest of the

          9  cultural community, as I'm sure you know. I also

         10  know that Ted is going to bring up culture counts,

         11  so I'm going to skip that and let him talk about it.

         12                 I decided to direct my entire

         13  testimony to solution. And as I have listened over

         14  the past years amongst these primary issues that I

         15  think the Council has a chance of addressing, and

         16  not every issue in New York's community can be

         17  addressed by the Council, energy cost, health care,

         18  audiences and marketing, real estate and more

         19  funding.

         20                 Energy. The City pays energy costs

         21  for the CIGs using the state-supported energy

         22  sources. That's lower cost. I have long recommended

         23  that the Council work with the Mayor and the

         24  Department of Cultural Affairs to create similar

         25  possibilities for the theater and dance communities.
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          2  I'm going to say create a minimum of two pilot

          3  projects to do the same, one in the BAM economic

          4  cultural district, and one somewhere below 14th

          5  Street into Canal and across to Chinatown. And you

          6  can talk to Virginia Louloudes at Art New York and

          7  Bob Yesselman at Dance NYC, and folks in Chinatown

          8  to come up with a real geographic district there.

          9                 I think there are places in the other

         10  boroughs, but I can't speak to them as well as I can

         11  those two areas. However, each of the Arts Councils

         12  in those boroughs could help people select an area.

         13  It would save the City money in the longrun, because

         14  if you pay us $10,000 and we pay Con Edison 8,000

         15  instead of paying 6,000, that's a $2,000 difference

         16  that could go in our back pockets or yours.

         17                 Health care. Please note that I've

         18  said health care, not health insurance. You've heard

         19  testimony in the previous hearing about the WoodHull

         20  Hospital artist access pilot project, and I believe

         21  others here are going to bring that up again.

         22                 I'd like to recommend that the

         23  Cultural Affairs Committee work with the Health

         24  Committee next year to expand this pilot project to

         25  other City hospitals, perhaps to have a hearing, and
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          2  even small amounts of money designated for

          3  particular hospitals to expand this pilot could be

          4  put into the budget next year.

          5                 I'm not in favor of the City using

          6  tax dollars to subsidize health insurance premiums

          7  if health care can be obtained otherwise.

          8                 Audience and marketing. Commissioner

          9  Levin testified in October about several marketing

         10  initiatives that have been very successful. Early

         11  results show that some of these initiatives are

         12  bringing in return ticket purchases.

         13                 We don't know if they move from one

         14  art form to another, that's still a little unclear.

         15  My recommendation is that the Council support

         16  marketing initiatives that are cross-disciplinary

         17  and/or Citywide in the upcoming budget.

         18                 City Centers Fall for Dance, for

         19  example. Two for Two Weeks was multi-disciplinary,

         20  and City Opera and Signature Theater have specific

         21  programs that are successful.  Whether or not they

         22  are long-term successful is not yet clear, but

         23  they're worth exploring further.

         24                 Real estate. In this area there is a

         25  distinction between individual artists and cultural
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          2  groups. Individual artists, as you said earlier,

          3  need housing and work space. They may or may not

          4  want to combine those two needs. I have long said

          5  that I will not support housing specifically for

          6  artists, because housing issues in this City go much

          7  further than that. But work space and live work

          8  space the City should be supporting.

          9                 Performing arts groups need both

         10  office-type work space and rehearsal and performance

         11  space. I think that long-term we are best served by

         12  becoming owners of the property we occupy, whether

         13  it's an individual artist or an arts organization.

         14  So, I've suggested two solutions. One is an interim

         15  solution.

         16                 Provide property tax credit to

         17  landlords who rent to non-profit arts groups by a

         18  limited credit of five to ten percent for existing

         19  rentals, and a freeze on taxes on newly created or

         20  renovated properties at current levels for ten

         21  years, with a commitment to the second ten years at

         22  50 percent of the increased value, in which the

         23  credit would result, would revert to the five to ten

         24  percent.

         25                 This would provide some stability
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          2  where we are now, while we work on longer term

          3  solutions to provide ownership. These same tax

          4  credits could be provided to landlords who rent

          5  studio space to artists, or who develop studio space

          6  for artists.

          7                 Longer term, the Arts Coalition will

          8  be working over the next year to establish a

          9  Citywide community cultural land trust. The model

         10  being examined comes from community land trust used

         11  primarily but not exclusively to develop low-income

         12  housing.

         13                 A trust of this type of basically a

         14  not-for-profit real estate development corporation

         15  that buys and renovates buildings and then resells

         16  them. However, the trust has some differences from

         17  what you're accustomed to.

         18                 It retains ownership of the land and

         19  the sale of the buildings have the following

         20  restrictions at a minimum, and I am shorthanding

         21  some of the elements of this.

         22                 The purpose of the property when it's

         23  resold must remain the same. So if it's work space

         24  for artists, it's got to remain work space for

         25  artists.
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          2                 The future sale price, whether a

          3  building or a single unit within a co-op or a condo

          4  model is at the time of the original sale limited by

          5  a formula agreed upon by all the parties involved.

          6                 Examples of those limitations vary

          7  around the country, but they usually are somewhere

          8  in line with whatever the inflationary increase is

          9  over the number of years involved.

         10                 But people can own their property.

         11  They can have an asset. So it's valuable on the

         12  balance sheet of an organization or in the personal

         13  life of an individual. There are a lot of other

         14  aspects, but by retaining ownership of the land and

         15  creating these two minimal restrictions, you

         16  stabilize neighborhoods, you prevent real estate

         17  speculation, and you create ownership that can be

         18  passed on and passed down.

         19                 The Arts Coalition has examined this

         20  idea for four years and it's time to move on to an

         21  actual plan. We will be, for the first time, seeking

         22  money from the Council to support this, and I hope

         23  you will help us.

         24                 More funding, and this is the one

         25  that you've heard before. Based on the analysis
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          2  provided at your October hearing by Commissioner

          3  Levin, the Department of Cultural Affairs is

          4  providing a total of 18.6 million of its expense

          5  budget to performing arts groups or performing arts

          6  centers such as Carnegie and BAM. That's about 14

          7  percent of its entire appropriation.

          8                 Within that 18.6 million the average

          9  grant to one of the 308 program category groups is

         10  just under $15,000. The average grant to one of the

         11  nine CIGs in this category is 1.5 million.

         12                 I think it's obvious that if you want

         13  to support the performing arts, and every person who

         14  has ever testified before any Committee of the

         15  Council, has brought up the subject that they do not

         16  have enough resources from the City, and you

         17  mentioned this earlier.

         18                 I also want to point out that you

         19  really can't do this only through Council

         20  initiatives to individual groups. There are too many

         21  groups and large numbers of them are clustered in

         22  Manhattan or in four or five districts.

         23                 The Council lacks the experienced

         24  staff to evaluate literally hundreds of applications

         25  that you would receive, some of you, if it were done
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          2  this way.

          3                 You can best reach the largest number

          4  of professional performing arts groups by two

          5  methods. Increase across the board the program lines

          6  that are currently in the budget. Most of those

          7  groups are performing arts organizations. Not all of

          8  them, but I could not in good conscience only

          9  recommend performing arts groups be increased.

         10                 Increase funding to the cultural

         11  development fund. I'm well aware that many Council

         12  members do not like this fund, but it's the single

         13  most important avenue for professional performing

         14  arts groups to receive City funding.

         15                 I might also add that if you want a

         16  lessening of the lobbyists besieging you at budget

         17  time, this is one way to improve that situation.

         18                 I want to close by repeating

         19  something from earlier testimony. The arts share

         20  science need for hypothesis, experimentation and

         21  failure. Without failure there is no progress.

         22  Failure instructs. Success merely breeds imitation

         23  and eventual ossification. Those are the words of a

         24  long-term friend of mine Ivan Segoda, from his

         25  testimony.
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          2                 I know that there's tremendous

          3  pressure on the Council members to prove that you're

          4  doing something for your community, and that funding

          5  the intangibles and the hard to measure in the arts

          6  is really difficult, especially when you're looking

          7  at a budget where mental health, education,

          8  hospitals, youth services, meals for seniors, all

          9  these things compete.

         10                 But I think that much of the City's

         11  cultural sector is at a crossroads, definitely not

         12  attracting young new artists, and without that

         13  lifeblood we're not going to be a vibrant cultural

         14  center in 20 and 30 years. We certainly have too

         15  many arts groups of longstanding, high professional

         16  quality, especially in the performing arts, whose

         17  fiscal health is at best fragile, despite producing

         18  outstanding artistic work.

         19                 These losses are gradual and

         20  hard-to-track, but going back to your earlier

         21  remarks, as you opened this, we really need support

         22  of government.

         23                 The choices that are being made right

         24  now depend, make a difference in what your children

         25  will inherit in the City.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Whoever would

          4  like to go next. Robin, do you want to go next? Hold

          5  on. You have to turn, the light has to be off, in

          6  order to be on.

          7                 I'd just like to mention we've been

          8  joined by my colleague David Weprin.

          9                 MS. KEEGAN: Thank you. Good

         10  afternoon. My name is Robin Keegan. I'm the former

         11  Deputy Director and currently a fellow at the Center

         12  for an Urban Future, which is an independent,

         13  nonpartisan policy think tank that studies issues of

         14  economic development and job creation strategies

         15  throughout the five boroughs.

         16                 I've recently authored a new report

         17  that everyone is anxiously awaiting, The Creative

         18  New York. It will be released, I promise, later this

         19  month, hopefully next week, which illustrates the

         20  importance of the City's creative people and

         21  businesses to our overall economy.

         22                 The report actually expands the

         23  definition of the City's creative sector to include

         24  all of the non-profit and for-profit entities within

         25  nine industries from advertising and architecture,

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  the visual and performing arts that we consider

          3  creative.

          4                 Not surprisingly, these industries

          5  face many of the same issues being discussed in

          6  these hearings. The report also outlines a series of

          7  recommendations of how to support the City's

          8  creative sector, its businesses and workers. I hope

          9  to brief you very soon on this report, and these

         10  recommendations.

         11                 I will try to keep my comments to the

         12  performing arts. However, I do believe that, as

         13  we've mentioned, these issues are facing all of the

         14  creative industries and I think it's very important

         15  that we think about the entire creative sector and

         16  how we can leverage the work of this Committee to

         17  impact all of the creative industries and businesses

         18  that make New York the center of the creative world.

         19                 Just a few points, and then I really

         20  just want to talk about one specific thing,

         21  actually, because I think that Norma outlined as

         22  well, as people previously in the hearings have

         23  outlined really what the issues are and what many of

         24  the solutions are, and I think that there are ways

         25  that we can work with the Council to help us come to
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          2  those recommendations in a different forum.

          3                 However, I just want to give you a

          4  few highlights from the research. Our creative

          5  sector, this mix of for-profit and non-profit

          6  creative industries is our competitive advantage.

          7  With the exception of the financial services, this

          8  sector is one of the largest of our economy with

          9  well over 300,000 workers.

         10                 It is these workers that originate

         11  produce, perform and exhibit the creative content

         12  that is one of the City's major exports to the

         13  world.

         14                 These creative industries are not

         15  only important to our local economy, as I just said,

         16  they are expert economy.

         17                 You've heard many examples, and let

         18  me add another. Plays produced here are actually

         19  programming theaters across the country. It's not

         20  just Broadway, it's our non-profit theaters as well.

         21  For example, the public theater is really one of the

         22  RND theaters for the nation. The important point to

         23  realize is that while we are the creative capital of

         24  the world, this is not guaranteed.

         25                 As you know very well, cities across
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          2  the United States, as well as across other

          3  countries, like the United Kingdom, are aggressively

          4  planning for their own creative economies. Even

          5  cities like Peduka, Kentucky, are developing tax

          6  incentives and affordable housing to retain and

          7  attract creative talent. And whose talent do they

          8  want most? Ours.

          9                 Our creative sector is beloved by

         10  many on this Council, the Administration and other

         11  leaders key to Citywide economic growth. But it's

         12  not well understood, and it's making it difficult to

         13  incorporate this into neighborhood and Citywide

         14  economic development planning.

         15                 So, how does this affect the

         16  performing arts in the larger creative sector?

         17                 My colleagues have testified in

         18  previous hearings on the subject, this vital

         19  component of our economy is struggling to remain so,

         20  due to pressures that they have well documented.

         21  Financing and funding, real estate, supports for

         22  workers, including affordable housing and affordable

         23  health insurance.

         24                 I think this has been well

         25  documented. I do just want to say two quick things.
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          2  In terms of money, funding a non-profit

          3  organization, as you well know, is an art in and of

          4  itself. These organizations rely on a very complex

          5  mix of foundations and government support, as well

          6  as earned income. Ensuring the increase in the

          7  Department of Cultural Affairs's budget is critical

          8  and should maintain a major priority of the City

          9  Council.

         10                 However, the use of member or line

         11  items is another area critical to the stability and

         12  growth of these organizations, and there may be a

         13  way for Council members to begin to creatively think

         14  across districts about how to help these

         15  organizations within their boroughs, as well as the

         16  City overall.

         17                 I think the word is coordination

         18  among all of these different budgets and priorities.

         19  This could be a helpful step to assuring that the

         20  broad needs of performing arts, as well as the

         21  larger creative sector are met.

         22                 Real estate. Much has been said about

         23  this issue at previous hearings. It's really the

         24  core of sustaining our creative and competitive

         25  advantage in the performing arts and other
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          2  enterprises.

          3                 When we do our research and interview

          4  workers and business owners, the heads of nonprofit

          5  organizations and others, space, whether performing

          6  rehearsal or office space, this is the number one

          7  issue.

          8                 I'd like to bring you a few specifics

          9  that you could work on in your districts by giving

         10  you an example.

         11                 The stability of these clusters is

         12  threatened by speculative real estate. We know that.

         13                 A quick example. Last spring, when

         14  the communities of Williamsburg and Greenpoint, two

         15  of the City's most vibrant creative neighborhoods,

         16  were rezoned to create much needed housing, real

         17  estate prices in the neighborhood quadrupled

         18  overnight.

         19                 To be clear, there is a dire need for

         20  housing, and this rezoning is an important step to

         21  addressing this need. However, the unintended

         22  consequence of such rezonings without measures like

         23  the inclusion of space for creative enterprises

         24  within this new development, is that speculative

         25  development will continue to displace
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          2  well-established creative clusters.

          3                 The sad fact is that there are few

          4  places for these enterprises and workers to go in

          5  the City. They are finding it more hospitable in

          6  towns like Beacon or Troy, New York, or Peduka,

          7  Kentucky.

          8                 We cannot afford to lose these

          9  innovative businesses and people. And as you've

         10  heard, we have great models of affordable space

         11  development, especially in the performing arts, like

         12  the Alliance for Residents Theaters to share office

         13  buildings and others. However, due to these factors

         14  mentioned above, many of these projects are becoming

         15  less and less replicable due to the continued

         16  escalation of real estate costs across the five

         17  boroughs.

         18                 This does not have to be the case.

         19  Along with your colleagues on the Land Use

         20  Committee, you could encourage City Planning to

         21  include the needs of these intact successful

         22  creative clusters within its planning process. It is

         23  possible through tax incentives and other measures

         24  to require new development to include space, whether

         25  it be work, rehearsal or performance, for the
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          2  creative community.

          3                 This should not be haphazard but

          4  should rely on an assessment of an existing creative

          5  cluster. I am actually working on just an assessment

          6  for Greenpoint and Williamsburg, and I look forward

          7  to briefing you on these findings as the project

          8  proceeds.

          9                 There are many other issues, as the

         10  Committee has heard, and I will stop here. But first

         11  I'd like to say that this is a time of great

         12  opportunity. There is an evident commitment from

         13  this Committee, from the entire City Administration,

         14  from the Mayor and the Department of Cultural

         15  Affairs, throughout the many different agencies, and

         16  the Council, along with the Mayor's Office, have

         17  shown incredible commitment to finding solutions to

         18  problems like runaway film production.

         19                 The tax incentives and marketing

         20  campaign created for our film industries is now one

         21  of the most successful in the country.

         22                 I look forward to working with you

         23  and my colleagues here to figure out similar

         24  initiatives relevant to the needs of the non-profit

         25  community that can meet the myriad issues facing the
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          2  performing arts community and the larger creative

          3  community, to ensure that we do indeed remain the

          4  creative capital in the world.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 MR. BERGER: Hi. I'm Ted Berger, the

          7  Executive Director of the New York Foundation for

          8  the Arts.

          9                 Thank you for the opportunity to be

         10  here today. NYFA is one of the country's largest

         11  providers of direct grants and services to

         12  individual artists and artist-centered organizations

         13  in all disciplines.

         14                 At the end of this month, after over

         15  30 years, I'm retiring as the Director of NYFA, so

         16  I'm here in my new capacity as well, as the Director

         17  of the Urban Artist Initiative for New York City, a

         18  new project that was part of a national effort

         19  developed by LINK, Leveraging Investments In

         20  Creativity, to strengthening the needs of individual

         21  artists across the disciplines across the country.

         22                 This New York City initiative is part

         23  of an 11 city national effort to create a laboratory

         24  of demonstration models to effect change in the

         25  lives of artists.
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          2                 The New York City project is a

          3  consortium effort of the Bronx Council on the Arts,

          4  NYFA, The Harlem Arts Alliance, the Asian-American

          5  Arts Alliance, the Association of Hispanic Arts and

          6  the Queens Council on the Arts.

          7                 Its goal is to strengthen information

          8  resources for all artists throughout the City and to

          9  develop a new grants program specifically for

         10  individual artists of color in all the boroughs, as

         11  well as those from immigrant communities.

         12                 For many years, like my colleagues,

         13  I've testified before various committees of the

         14  Council about the needs and importance of the arts

         15  and artists to the City. I've been involved with

         16  many of my colleagues in numerous studies and

         17  reports which have been sent to many committees.

         18                 In 2001, for example, NYFA

         19  spearheaded a year-long Citywide project, the

         20  Cultural Blueprint for New York City, and published

         21  a report called Culture Counts, which is attached to

         22  these remarks.

         23                 Many of the suggested strategies then

         24  are as relevant, if not more so, today.

         25                 Yet, there have been consistent
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          2  themes and issues about our communities underlying

          3  survival needs throughout the years. But, yet, in my

          4  opinion, real efforts to try and address these

          5  challenges have been few and far between. Term

          6  limits has not helped that situation.

          7                 Increasingly, I believe the health

          8  and vitality of our field may be threatened,

          9  weakening New York's historic leadership in arts and

         10  culture in the increasingly global competition for

         11  creative and intellectual capital.

         12                 What I have to say has already been

         13  said in better ways by in previous testimonies and

         14  by my colleagues today. And I, too, agree that many

         15  of the challenges faced by artists and arts

         16  organizations simply cut across the discipline. But

         17  I also think that the relevance of what the LINK

         18  projects are trying to do needs to be examined in

         19  light of New York City's support system for artists.

         20                 LINK grew out of an extensive study

         21  by the well-known Washington-based Research Center,

         22  the Urban Institute. The report of the study,

         23  Investing In Creativity, which I was deeply

         24  involved, emphasizes that the historic art support

         25  primarily supports arts organizations and
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          2  institutions with the trickle-down approach for the

          3  lives of artists.

          4                 This has weakened the infrastructure

          5  necessary to support the very people who make art

          6  happen in the first place, artists. The report by

          7  the Urban Institute provides a framework of how we

          8  must augment the present support system in order to

          9  invest in each community's and our country's

         10  creative future.

         11                 Now, as you know, the art sector is

         12  certainly a multi-billion dollar economic engine,

         13  but this engine cannot keep going just on fumes.

         14                 Government support, for example, at

         15  the national State and City level has simply not

         16  kept pace with the increasing costs of doing

         17  business.

         18                 Moreover, it is increasingly

         19  difficult for the key drivers of this economic

         20  engine, working artists, to keep up with the

         21  ever-increasing costs of living here in New York

         22  City.

         23                 I'm not going to go into a litany of

         24  all the space issues that you've heard before, but

         25  our needs are not unique to the arts. They are true
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          2  for many other New Yorkers and many other small and

          3  mid-sized businesses, so the development of

          4  affordable space strategies must include thinking

          5  about where artists and arts organizations belong in

          6  that.

          7                 We must go beyond individual

          8  deal-making. It requires the formation of an

          9  emergency task force, in my opinion, and the

         10  development of a comprehensive planning and

         11  commitment from elected officials working in

         12  partnership with the private sector, through many of

         13  the economic incentives suggested that can be used

         14  for the not-for-profit art sector, just as they are

         15  used for the for-profit sectors.

         16                 Like many other people, the economic

         17  pressures of surviving in the City are forcing

         18  artists to rethink why they should stay here in the

         19  first place.

         20                 Artists are finding it more and more

         21  difficult to tread water. They are losing hope and

         22  growing bitter about not being able to live and work

         23  and stay here.

         24                 This is particularly true for mature

         25  artists who have struggled here for years, who have
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          2  helped to brand New York as the cultural capital of

          3  the world. But it is becoming increasingly true for

          4  young talent who fear they cannot afford to build

          5  and sustain a career in New York.

          6                 And when any industry cannot continue

          7  to attract and grow its new talent pool, it risks

          8  losing its leadership position.

          9                 Consider, for example, how many

         10  artists who shaped Lower Manhattan who have long

         11  been residents here are being forced by the

         12  escalating rents.

         13                 Time and again, New York City has let

         14  many industries get away, as they are forced to

         15  leave often because of similar reasons. Lack of

         16  affordable space. Lack of attention to increased

         17  investment, and lack of attention to its small and

         18  mid-sized businesses. In our cases, dance companies,

         19  theater companies, music groups, who create

         20  employment possibilities for many.

         21                 Many of the issues that are the

         22  space, whatever the discipline, as I've said, are

         23  not unique to artists, and the arts are ready to

         24  unite in coalition with many to address common

         25  concerns and find creative solutions to problems.
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          2                 You've heard in previous testimony

          3  about the success of the Wood Hull project which

          4  I've been proud to be part of. Artists Access is a

          5  unique feature which includes an exchange where

          6  artists are giving of their craft, to patients, to

          7  the hospital itself, and in essence building up

          8  credits in the form of a debit card.

          9                 I actually believe that this way of

         10  adapting old historic ways of bartering for

         11  new-style medicine could well provide effective

         12  strategies for other alternative approaches to the

         13  ongoing needs of artists and arts organizations.

         14                 Artists provide many services to the

         15  public. There are ways they could be given credit

         16  for doing that in many neighborhood situations.

         17                 The present support system in the

         18  City for supporting the arts and artists, in my

         19  opinion, simply needs to be strengthened and

         20  reinvisioned. The emphasis has been historically on

         21  real estate about product and not about process. The

         22  emphasis has been on production and not on creation.

         23                 And I believe it's very necessary to

         24  strengthen many of the existing alternative

         25  approaches that help artists and arts organizations
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          2  to survive, such as Materials for the Arts, or

          3  exploring the Metropolis Space Database. It's also

          4  important to strengthen many of the developmental

          5  programs and services that now exist in numerous

          6  artist-centered organizations, such as NYFA's own

          7  fellowship program for artists, or the extensive

          8  information and technical assistance services for

          9  artists provided by NYFA and other

         10  discipline-specific and community-specific service

         11  organizations, or other support programs, like the

         12  Bronx Council's Brio Award or such new efforts as

         13  the Urban Artist Initiative.

         14                 We need to look at the non-arts

         15  agencies, like we've done working with the Health

         16  and Hospitals Corporation model to find more

         17  creative ways of adapting programs and services for

         18  the arts and artists. And we need to find

         19  comprehensive solutions to the major affordable

         20  space crisis, looking at everything from track tax

         21  credits to creating new financing mechanisms for

         22  artists to the community land trust model that Norma

         23  suggested.

         24                 You're all aware of the importance of

         25  the multi-billion dollar economic engine that is the

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  art sector. But many people forget, it's the

          3  choreographers and dancers, playwrights and actors,

          4  composers and musicians, artists in all disciplines,

          5  who are the key drivers of this sector.

          6                 It is they who are responsible for

          7  continual evolution of our cultural life for its

          8  creative edge and creative product, and for our

          9  reputation as the center for talent that impacts the

         10  world. Along with the need to support institutions

         11  in this City, the infrastructure for supporting

         12  artists must be rethought and strengthened

         13  significantly. The very real and human needs of this

         14  community of artists demand our collective attention

         15  and collaboration and require creative action now.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         18  much. Just let me ask a few questions.

         19                 First, I want to start off with

         20  thanking you all for coming here and testifying and

         21  for helping the Committee. And Robin, we look

         22  forward to your report being released, we can talk

         23  more about it, have dialogue. I don't want to get

         24  into it here.

         25                 But Robin, are there other cities in
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          2  the US that you have studied that are working on

          3  projects that you feel could work in New York City

          4  that we're not doing?

          5                 MS. KEEGAN: I think there are a

          6  number. And I think that you'll hear later from our

          7  colleagues at Art Space Projects. I think they will

          8  be able to quote the actual number of cities that

          9  they get calls from week-to-week about affordable

         10  housing.

         11                 Cities across the country, from St.

         12  Paul and Minneapolis, to cities in Arizona, cities

         13  in Seattle, cities like Seattle, are actually

         14  aggressively promoting and planning for their

         15  artists. So, affordable housing is one way. Like I

         16  mentioned, Peduka, Kentucky, much smaller city than

         17  New York --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

         19                 MS. KEEGAN:-- Is actually developing

         20  tax incentives to attract businesses to stay within

         21  its limits.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: This is a very

         23  touchy subject, because then you have teachers that

         24  say how come you don't have affordable housing for

         25  teachers.
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          2                 MS. KEEGAN: It's a very large issue.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: It's a large

          4  issue.

          5                 MS. KEEGAN: I mean, we need an

          6  affordable housing plan in this City, period.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Period, right.

          8                 MS. KEEGAN: But in the interim, I

          9  think that there are strategies and ways that we can

         10  also develop affordable housing for artists and use

         11  those models to develop affordable housing for other

         12  types of centers.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes. Well, one

         14  of the things that we plan to do is to have a

         15  meeting with the Land Use Committee, and sit down

         16  and proceed working together, make that part of

         17  future development, and like you said, Williamsburg

         18  and other parts of New York City.

         19                 And I just want you to know for the

         20  record, I am, as everybody knows, from Coney Island,

         21  and we have master plans going in Coney Island, and

         22  I just wanted you to know that. One of the things

         23  that I'm pushing for is, we have a beautiful theater

         24  in Coney Island, and we're trying to keep the

         25  theater, have live performance, but also there are
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          2  many office spaces in that, and my dream is to have

          3  a complete performing arts building that's able to

          4  have affordable rehearsal space for musicians,

          5  artists, you know, they can come, art and studios

          6  and so forth. So that's one of the things that we

          7  are pushing, you know, in Coney Island, and I know

          8  people won't come all the way out to Coney Island, I

          9  know people want to be closer to Manhattan, but we

         10  have to take the land where it's at.

         11                 MS. KEEGAN: Right. Well, when the

         12  choice is Beacon or Coney Island, I think people

         13  will, you know, come to Coney Island.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: But I'm also,

         15  I'm interested with the health care. Everyone

         16  testified on the health care and with the WoodHull

         17  project. So, what I'm clear about is that, what you

         18  would like to see is the WoodHull Project be

         19  expanded to other City hospitals?

         20                 MR. BERGER: The plan only works

         21  because of HHC options.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right.

         23                 MR. BERGER: Actually, Bellevue is

         24  already thinking about adopting it, and I think the

         25  nine other hospitals are looking at it.
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          2                 WoodHull has been the laboratory for

          3  it, and it's received a lot of attention in the

          4  press. It's health care.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Not health

          6  insurance.

          7                 MR. BERGER: It's not health

          8  insurance.

          9                 It doesn't stop the need for advocacy

         10  about universal health care. But it is actually one

         11  of the unique reasons for artists to stay in New

         12  York. Because of the subsidy from the State and City

         13  for HHC options, it makes it possible for artists to

         14  get health coverage when they've never had it, or

         15  even drop their health insurance because they can't

         16  afford it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: All right.

         18                 MS. MUNN: Let me make something clear

         19  here. We are all on the same page when it comes to

         20  knowing that that is a model that's successful, and,

         21  yes, we would like to see it expanded to other

         22  hospitals. And my guess is that they're going to

         23  need a little push from some of you next spring

         24  because they have tight budgets.

         25                 But Ted was also speaking to
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          2  something else. The bartering system with a debit

          3  card is a model there for an artist trading his or

          4  her work, is a system that we're interested in

          5  seeing if we can transfer it to any other situation.

          6  Right now that's just something we're talking about.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right. Just like

          8  we said, I think what we need to do is right after

          9  the new year is to really have a roundtable

         10  discussion about this, and to see how we can move

         11  forward on this health care issue.

         12                 MS. MUNN: Backing up to something on

         13  the Land Use issue, I forgot to include in this,

         14  many, many years ago when the massive charter change

         15  came along, we asked for and got a change in the

         16  responsibilities of the City Planning Commission. It

         17  now includes responsibility for cultural planning.

         18  It never did before. And I've gone before Land Use

         19  committees and others and testified that certain

         20  zoning changes were going to eliminate the ability

         21  for certain types of artists to work in that

         22  community.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Like in

         24  Williamsburg, DUMBO.

         25                 MS. MUNN: Like Robin was talking
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          2  about.

          3                 So, one of the things that I hope

          4  that your Committee will do going forward in

          5  addition to working with health care is work with

          6  Land Use and City Planning on zoning issues that are

          7  eliminating individual artists from doing certain

          8  work in certain communities.

          9                 We need manufacturing space kept, or

         10  some right to keep at least certain areas with

         11  manufacturing space. And I understand the need for

         12  housing extremely well, but there is no balance in

         13  here, and right now the City Planning Commission's

         14  idea of planning for culture is to block off an area

         15  in a master plan and say cultural center, and when

         16  you call and ask what it is, well, we really don't

         17  know who's going to be in it, how much it's going to

         18  cost, what it's about. It's just a blob. Then of

         19  course it doesn't happen, nor should it necessarily

         20  happen because that's not cultural planning.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: How did your

         22  organization become involved in the LINKs program?

         23                 MR. BERGER: The Urban Institute was

         24  starting its study. They were trying to get a solid

         25  idea of how money flows to artists. NYFA
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          2  historically had a program called the Visual Artist

          3  Hot Line, and the Urban Institute came to us and

          4  said you have the best database in the country. And

          5  we worked with them to expand that database, which

          6  is a research tool, as well as an applied research

          7  tool so artists can use it, to gather information

          8  about what money, unfortunately how little money

          9  gets into the hands of artists.

         10                 And, so, that program is called NYFA

         11  Source, which is the most comprehensive database

         12  that's been developed about the arts support system

         13  for artists in the United States.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Because I was

         15  just, you know, I saw that. I don't see anybody from

         16  Brooklyn involved, or anybody from Staten Island.

         17                 MR. BERGER: There are some advisory

         18  committees but the Grants Program is --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You have

         20  Manhattan, you have the Queens Art Council, you have

         21  Bronx Arts Council. We have no Brooklyn Arts Council

         22  and we have no Staten Island.

         23                 MR. BERGER: They're involved in other

         24  ways.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I hope we're not
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          2  leaving out Brooklyn and Staten Island.

          3                 MR. BERGER: No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Because, you

          5  know, Staten Island feel like they're the lost babe

          6  of the City.

          7                 MR. BERGER: They're not. This is a

          8  Citywide initiative, but the first effort was to

          9  start to look at communities of color, as well as,

         10  particularly in Queens, the large population of new

         11  immigrant artists.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Well, let me

         13  wake you up, Brooklyn has a large population of

         14  immigrants. They have the largest Russian Community

         15  in the City. So, I would just like to see that,

         16  Brooklyn Arts Council and Staten Island Council

         17  involved also, because I just think if we're really

         18  going to do this right, then have a full input from

         19  everyone.

         20                 I heard what everyone said, basically

         21  the areas are affordable housing, affordable space,

         22  rehearsal space, the energy issue is something

         23  normal that I've said for a long time that some of

         24  the art institutions should get, be part of the

         25  energy situation, that's something that we're going
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          2  to work on. The health care is something -- these

          3  are doable. These are things with the right momentum

          4  and opportunities, we're going to push them further.

          5                 I just want to leave you with this

          6  one comment. You talked about the development fund.

          7  All right, you would like to see the development

          8  fund increased, okay? I happen to disagree with you.

          9  If I had my way, I would abolish that fund. Why?

         10  Because I think it's a sin that Borough Presidents

         11  are elected and they can't decide what is the best

         12  interest for their boroughs. And it's a disgrace how

         13  Borough Presidents don't have a say. We are taking

         14  away creativity from each borough. We are taking

         15  away the independence of each borough. That's what

         16  makes New York so beautiful, okay?

         17                 What this development fund does say,

         18  this is the way we want it in New York City. That's

         19  not what New York is about. New York is about

         20  creativity, and having every borough develop their

         21  own fund and prosper in their own way. And that's

         22  the beautiful thing about the arts. You know, if you

         23  look at all the different Arts Councils, right?

         24  Queens is much different than the Bronx. The Bronx

         25  is much different than Brooklyn, and Brooklyn is
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          2  much different than Manhattan, but that's what makes

          3  it so wonderful. It's creativity, and that's what

          4  the development fund does, takes it away. That's the

          5  problem that I have.

          6                 MS. MUNN: Well, we don't have to have

          7  either/or choices. As we've discussed before, many

          8  years ago, and consistently for several years, we

          9  recommended a development fund in each borough and a

         10  Citywide one to compliment so that there can be --

         11  there are groups that don't want to go to a simple

         12  location and deal and shouldn't have to go through

         13  that paperwork, and we all know that, and we believe

         14  very firmly that there should be some decentralized

         15  money that is locally controlled and locally

         16  delivered, but that doesn't eliminate the need for

         17  the larger picture. Right now the larger picture is

         18  all we've got. So, if you can come up with both, we

         19  would be even happier, and then we'd be in total

         20  agreement.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCIA: All right.

         22                 Now my colleague David Weprin.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Yes, I just

         24  want to join Chair Recchia in thanking you for all

         25  your support over the years for the arts in general.
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          2  I know as head of the Finance Committee you've

          3  testified on many occasions, and sent us papers and

          4  other positions, and, of course, we recognize how

          5  important live theater is and other cultural

          6  contributions to the economy of the City of New

          7  York, and if for nothing else, just from a dollar

          8  and cents point of view and the economic development

          9  that we get from the theater and the arts, it makes

         10  economic sense for us to fund the arts at

         11  significantly higher levels than we do now, because

         12  of course the effect, the multiplier effect to the

         13  economy is so great.

         14                 So, I just want to reiterate what

         15  Chair Recchia said on many occasions basically to

         16  support you in your efforts, in support of the arts.

         17                 MS. MUNN: Thank you, David.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So, basically we

         19  need solutions for the health care, the energy, of

         20  course the space for rehearsal and affordable

         21  living, and working on developing a cultural fund.

         22                 MR. BERGER: There's a perception

         23  issue as well, which is the structure of the system

         24  supports organizations and institutions. The energy

         25  of the community comes from this working community

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  that's kind of nameless, faceless, some of them get

          3  great reputations and somehow, the understanding

          4  that it's artists that make art happen in the first

          5  place, and that there's a system to which the

          6  organizations are critical to get the work to the

          7  public, but unless those organizations know about

          8  this living community of artists, we're going to

          9  look around in a few years and New York City could

         10  be like Paris, dinosaur institutions but not a

         11  vibrant community that's able to live here and build

         12  a career here for a long time. And it's a tricky

         13  thing to see but we don't have a support system for

         14  artists in the City. We have a support system

         15  primarily for organizations, some of whom serve

         16  artists, most of which do not.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay. Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 MS. DE PEDRO: For our next panel, Mr.

         20  Tom Healy, Lower Manhattan Cultural Council; Randall

         21  Bourscheidt, Alliance for the Arts; Alan Eisenberg,

         22  Actors Equity Association.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Tom, do you want

         24  to go first? We'll move from my left to right.

         25                 MR. HEALY: Good afternoon, Chairman
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          2  Recchia, Council Member Weprin and my colleagues.

          3  I'm Tom Healy, President of Lower Manhattan Cultural

          4  Council. I was afraid I might put some people to

          5  sleep with some testimony, then you turned up the

          6  heat in the room in mid-afternoon, so we're sure to

          7  put people to sleep.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'm sure you'll

          9  keep us up.

         10                 MR. HEALY: Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I mean, you

         12  don't have to read it word for word, you can

         13  summarize.

         14                 MR. HEALY: Yes, sir.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Just bring up

         16  the important points, because, we will read this.

         17                 MR. HEALY: I just wanted first to say

         18  that I have spent a lot of time in both your

         19  districts with creative time on the big project we

         20  did in Coney Island, and in Queens Village in

         21  Bayside where I do many studio visits, and both have

         22  thriving artistic activity.

         23                 Space. The Final Frontier. Every

         24  StarTrek fan knows that. Every artist and supporter

         25  of the arts knows that space is also the first

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  frontier. Without places to live and work near the

          3  heart of the City, artists cannot provide the

          4  creative oxygen that a City needs to breathe.

          5                 I know this afternoon's testimony is

          6  specifically about the needs for the performing

          7  arts, but as the other people testifying have said,

          8  these needs so strongly parallel the needs for other

          9  artists, that I think we can have parallel

         10  testimony.

         11                 In a crowded, expensive City where

         12  can artists find affordable space to rehearse,

         13  build, exhibit, perform and live.

         14                 Real estate developers have a maximum

         15  follow the artist. Once artists have pioneered a

         16  neighborhood, others with more money are sure to

         17  follow, SoHo, Tribecca, Chelsea, Williamsburg,

         18  Harlem, Hunts Point, Queens Village, their examples

         19  throughout New York.

         20                 In fact, Lower Manhattan Cultural

         21  Council was founded more than 30 years ago by David

         22  Rockefeller, because he believed if artists were

         23  downtown in and around the World Trade Center, other

         24  tenants would follow.

         25                 LMCC was among those who lost
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          2  everything on 9/11, our offices, our studios, our

          3  public art and performance venues and, most

          4  tragically, the life of an artist.

          5                 But we've gathered our strength again

          6  and are busily reenergizing cultural life of

          7  downtown.  As downtown continues its dramatic

          8  transformation, though, we are still up against that

          9  first and final frontier of space. What is it going

         10  to take to say yes to enough affordable room for

         11  artists.

         12                 One of LMCC's most successful

         13  programs is a short-term real estate project that

         14  we've called "Swing Space." We have twisted the arms

         15  of building owners and convinced them to give us at

         16  free or low cost, space that's sitting vacant in

         17  their buildings or is in transition between

         18  commercial tenants.

         19                 Right now we have 140 artists, I say

         20  in the testimony 125, but we're up to 140, artists

         21  in eight spaces below Canal Street right now, and

         22  that's close to 80,000 square feet that we have in

         23  free use for artists downtown, vacant storefronts,

         24  storage units, office floors and lofts.

         25                 In fact, just last week in such
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          2  donated space, we brought 15 artists from the Gulf

          3  Coast to New York to work in a six-month residency

          4  here so that artists from the Gulf Coast can be part

          5  of the thriving New York artists community.

          6                 We've even figured out how to build

          7  movable wood floors for dance rehearsals and

          8  collapsable studio walls so that when we have to

          9  move from one space to another, we can do that.

         10                 We're working on ways to limit

         11  liability insurance costs, look at energy credits

         12  within buildings, the waiving of kill fees from

         13  Verizon and others for disconnecting telephone and

         14  Internet service when we have to move to make the

         15  costs as low as possible.

         16                 And we've tugged on a lot of heart

         17  strings to get this space. But landlords, as we've

         18  heard, get no tax or other financial benefit from

         19  donating the space, and as we all know, there's only

         20  so much we can do based on the goodness of people's

         21  hearts.

         22                 In the long-term there must be

         23  financial incentives, and these are incentives for

         24  the cultural communities that parallel those of the

         25  commercial sector.
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          2                 We can not give up and accept that

          3  arts will simply need to move farther and father

          4  away, if for no other reason than the people who can

          5  afford to live in the City choose to live and work

          6  where the artists are. The City's appeal diminishes

          7  if its creative community shrinks.

          8                 So we must plan better, and I have

          9  one specific recommendation on how to do that with

         10  creating cultural districts in the City, and through

         11  them coordinating government funding, private

         12  philanthropy, commercial development and individual

         13  efforts of artists and small arts organizations to

         14  live and work within a defined district.

         15                 Surprisingly, this is not being done.

         16  Take my own neighborhood, Lower Manhattan. The

         17  cultural plan for Ground Zero, now so much in doubt,

         18  was not created by a clear analysis of the need for

         19  artists or the community or the people who live and

         20  work downtown, or take on a smaller, more immediate

         21  scale, the $35 million that Lower Manhattan

         22  Development Corporation plans to give to arts groups

         23  below Canal Street in the coming months.

         24                 There has been no assessment of the

         25  specific cultural need in the relevant neighborhoods

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  to see that with these relevant funds, the most

          3  important cultural issues are addressed first. There

          4  is no plan to leverage the government funds with

          5  matching contributions from corporations and

          6  foundations, which is a really significant

          7  opportunity missed.

          8                 There have not been enough meetings

          9  between the City and State Planning, Economic

         10  Development and Small Business agencies, to

         11  coordinate their economic planning efforts with this

         12  LMDC cultural investment, nor has there been an

         13  effort to get arts groups to work together with one

         14  another, to look for shared spaces, whether that's

         15  performing and rehearsal space, to create critical

         16  masses in the same neighborhoods in the same

         17  streets, or to move to buildings as a group so they

         18  can leverage discounted leases and such in larger

         19  numbers. The creation of a cultural district

         20  downtown could change this.

         21                 Districts could work similarly in

         22  other neighborhoods. This effort would inventory the

         23  real estate transportation and other needs and

         24  assets. It would ask can we renovate existing

         25  performance and other arts facilities more
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          2  cost-effectively than building new ones? Can we

          3  create specific tax credits, we've heard this over

          4  and over again, for commercial developers, as is

          5  done on West 42nd Street, as incentives to build or

          6  renovate cultural space within commercial real

          7  estate projects, rather than the much more expensive

          8  free-standing plans for cultural facilities? And

          9  could we give tax incentives to building owners to

         10  rent at below market rates to cultural

         11  organizations?

         12                 We're giving lots of tax incentives

         13  for downtown to bring businesses here, we could do

         14  the same for the arts.

         15                 With the Liberty Bond Program and

         16  other incentives that have caused a tremendous

         17  conversion of office buildings into apartments,

         18  could we create downtown 21st Century housing like

         19  West Beth, Manhattan Plaza, or the highly successful

         20  projects that we've heard about in other such cities

         21  and that Boston and Portland have just recently

         22  commenced.

         23                 The uncertaintees at Ground Zero have

         24  given a window of opportunity to fit cultural

         25  facilities there within the overall fabric of
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          2  downtown. To think harder and better about the costs

          3  and benefits of different choices for investments

          4  and philanthropy, LMCC looks really forward to

          5  working with Chairman Recchia and this Committee to

          6  advocate a cultural district downtown. I think it

          7  could serve as a model for other places and there is

          8  so much attention to downtown that it might be a

          9  good test project area for that.

         10                 We're commissioning a study right now

         11  called "The State-of-the-arts Downtown." It will be

         12  the first annual of these studies. We hope that you

         13  will join us in developing and sharing the findings

         14  widely so together we can provide a comprehensive

         15  roadmap.

         16                 Thanks for this opportunity to speak.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you, Tom.

         18                 I just want to bring one point up

         19  before we let Randy speak.

         20                 When I was Chairman of the Small

         21  Business Committee in this City Council, at many

         22  hearings on Lower Manhattan, with my colleague Alan

         23  Gerson. And let me just tell you something, every

         24  time I had my hearings, okay, I sent letters, phone

         25  calls to Lower Manhattan Development Corporation to
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          2  the State and Charles Gargano (phonetic) would

          3  always say you have no authority over me, all right?

          4  Now we're learning how the funds were really spent,

          5  and it's eating my heart out that it's not going to

          6  the right places. Because like I said, a lot of

          7  small artists who are in business were out of

          8  business. I'm glad someone is bringing this to

          9  light.

         10                 MR. HEALY: I totally agree with you.

         11  I think that's represented by, when you call him,

         12  Charles Gargano, he says, "that's Mr. Chairman."

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right, exactly.

         14                 Okay, Randy.

         15                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Thank you, Chairman

         16  Recchia.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I want to thank

         18  you and your organization, for all you have done in

         19  helping us and helping my Committee, and I think you

         20  are a great asset, and bringing a lot of things to

         21  light for me and my colleagues, especially those

         22  fine books that you supply us with, telling us

         23  exactly where the arts centers are, which programs

         24  are in that district.

         25                 And I thank -- we just want to thank
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          2  you for being very helpful, and we do appreciate

          3  your organization.

          4                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Thank you very much.

          5  I do appreciate it.

          6                 At the risk of letting this

          7  degenerate into a love fest, I was actually going to

          8  start by not only thanking you for holding this

          9  series of hearings, I think it's a unique

         10  opportunity for me and my colleagues to exchange

         11  these ideas and to share them with other people who

         12  share our concern about the cultural community in

         13  New York, and I commend your staff, you and your

         14  staff for really great work.

         15                 I was this morning reviewing the

         16  summary of the previous hearings and the research

         17  that they did, and of course we're proud that the

         18  Alliance research is quoted in it, but so is the

         19  research of the other organizations that have

         20  already testified today, and I think you are

         21  providing a really important service for government.

         22                 It leads to one of the main

         23  suggestions I want to make today. I want to focus my

         24  comments on the performing arts, because that's the

         25  immediate subject, but like Ted and Norma and others
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          2  who have spoken before me, it's hard to divorce the

          3  needs of the performing arts community from those of

          4  the larger cultural community.

          5                 But I think it's fair to say that we

          6  are paying dearly in New York, paying a dear penalty

          7  in New York for our ingrained habit of not planning

          8  and not coordinating our efforts. And you've heard a

          9  number of references already in testimony today

         10  about the effects of that.

         11                 One I would like to point out in

         12  particular is the way in which a lack of a

         13  comprehensive cultural policy is evidenced in the

         14  City's cultural budget. I remember, some of you

         15  know, I was in the Cultural Affairs Department in

         16  its early days and the first Commissioner in the

         17  Koch Administration was a remarkable man named Henry

         18  Gellzoler. He served for five years and when he

         19  left, his parting comment to me was "Theater and

         20  dance, in fact, we've done nothing, virtually

         21  nothing for the performing arts."

         22                 And I'm afraid that comment made 20

         23  years ago, not quite 20 years ago, is all too true

         24  today. It grows out of the history reflected in the

         25  Cultural Affairs Budget, which is the City's
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          2  longstanding commitment to the City-owned cultural

          3  institutions which are overwhelmingly in the visual

          4  arts, zoos and gardens and so forth, and far less so

          5  in the performing arts. And that's the single, most

          6  important reason why this City does such a bad job

          7  at funding the performing arts.

          8                 And in addition to the excellent

          9  ideas that have been suggested in testimony today, I

         10  would reiterate what Norma and others have said,

         11  which is simply increasing the cultural budget, but

         12  doing so intelligently, with an understanding of the

         13  needs of the cultural community, especially in the

         14  performing arts, is incredibly important.

         15                 You can't do it in one year, I know,

         16  I know we're facing a deficit next year, but we

         17  could, I would be happy to work and I know my

         18  colleagues here would be happy to work with the

         19  Council to try and come up with goals for the next

         20  two, three, four years, and so we could strive

         21  towards those goals together.

         22                 We recently did some research looking

         23  at the patterns of income. And if you look at the

         24  performing arts, there's one remarkably good fact,

         25  which is that they average almost 60 percent of

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  their income, as earned income from the box office.

          3  That's the good news.

          4                 The bad news is they get about 4.7

          5  percent from all government sources. 2.7 from the

          6  City of New York. That's even true of large

          7  performing arts institutions, and that's even more

          8  painfully a fact for small performing arts

          9  institutions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You say you're

         11  only getting 2.7?

         12                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: 2.7 percent on

         13  average for the performing arts through the cultural

         14  budget, Cultural Affairs's budget.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Oh, through the

         16  Cultural Affairs?

         17                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Yes. That's not 2.7

         18  percent of the Cultural, percent of the Cultural

         19  Affairs's budget --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right.

         21                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: It averages 2.7

         22  percent of their income, meaning the City is hardly

         23  a factor. They rely on earned income and contributed

         24  income, and thank God they get it, or we wouldn't

         25  have any performing arts in this City. But it's an
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          2  opportunity and a challenge, I think, for this City,

          3  greatly to increase funding for the performing arts.

          4                 And those books that you referred to

          5  showed that they are pretty well distributed through

          6  the City, and, so, it's a campaign of increasing

          7  funding for the performing arts would have a

          8  Citywide benefit.

          9                 Just to pursue that idea one step

         10  further, because I understand so well the

         11  constraints that the Council is operating under, and

         12  there are some precedent for what I'm suggesting,

         13  and that is, I suggest that the Council give some

         14  consideration to working with the Administration to

         15  create a performing arts incentive fund, one which

         16  would not only provide additional funding, but would

         17  provide a mechanism for encouraging the private

         18  sector to increase its funding, with certain goals

         19  in mind, especially those of stabilizing the

         20  financial situation of smaller performing arts

         21  organizations.

         22                 So, I think that's all I have to say

         23  this morning.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: He just loved

         25  what you said. Just state your name for the record.
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          2                 MR. EISENBERG: Good afternoon,

          3  Chairman, and thank you for inviting us. I'm Alan

          4  Eisenberg. I'm the Executive Director of Actors

          5  Equity Association, which represents 45,000 actors

          6  across the United States and approximately 15,000 of

          7  that group reside in the City of New York.

          8                 In a sense, I don't have to say

          9  anything actually because it's been said so well by

         10  my colleagues here and also the previous speakers,

         11  but I'd like to tag on to what Randy said in terms

         12  of City support. And that is, and that is performing

         13  arts is a labor-intensive industry. You can't get

         14  around that. You can't do only one act of a play and

         15  you can't do only two sections of a symphony. It's a

         16  labor-intensive industry which must be recognized by

         17  the City of New York.

         18                 I mean, I don't know what books Randy

         19  has given you, but one of the great first writers in

         20  this field, who just a finished a long-term at

         21  Princeton, a man named William Bowen, B-o-w-e-n, and

         22  if Randy hasn't given you the books, I can provide

         23  them, and he made this point, it's ever needed

         24  increasing demand for money for the performing arts.

         25  And his assumption in this basic text that he wrote
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          2  quite awhile ago now was that this funding would

          3  come from the City and would come from private

          4  sources and it would come from foundation. There's

          5  no way around it. And if we don't get this money, as

          6  other speakers have spoken, we're going to lose the

          7  very essence of what we have in this City.

          8                 You know, I'm a native New Yorker but

          9  I've lived in many other places, and in my view, if

         10  it's not New York, it's all Bridgeport, you know? So

         11  we have to maintain what we have here, and comments

         12  of providing some to artists as well is very

         13  individual.

         14                 I think this City must focus in,

         15  really, on the smaller performing arts. Randy,

         16  again, made a fabulous point concerning the idea

         17  that, yes, the gardens get a lot of money and the

         18  zoos get a lot of money, the Metropolitan gets a lot

         19  of money, all of these grand institutions are

         20  gobbling up all of these funds and the performing

         21  arts are getting so little of it.

         22                 It has to go to the smaller

         23  institutions.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I notice

         25  everyone leaves out the Aquarium. It's in my
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          2  district.

          3                 MR. EISENBERG: It really has to go to

          4  small institutions. And what was mentioned earlier

          5  was what happens to the neighborhoods.

          6                 I'll just give you one example to

          7  follow-up on what was said earlier; and that is, the

          8  Roundabout Theater starts in a ratty little place on

          9  West 26th Street, I think, which is adjacent to a

         10  supermarket. And that's where it's sitting for a

         11  number of years. Then it moved to Union Square, and

         12  every place it moves, business comes around it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right. It's

         14  growing. The Roundabout is growing.

         15                 MR. EISENBERG: I'll say it's growing.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: It's growing. I

         17  mean they're doing very well.

         18                 MR. EISENBERG: But that's the point.

         19  And I'm not suggesting that all theaters will ever

         20  get to the level of the Roundabout, some of the most

         21  wonderful art theater that is being done in this

         22  City are these small companies, and they need money

         23  and the artists need the money.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So, let me just

         25  ask something.
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          2                 MR. EISENBERG: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: As you know,

          4  since I became Chairman, I increased the budget for

          5  the performing arts. But obviously, it's nowhere

          6  near where it should be. And I agree with you on

          7  that. And it's very hard making the case to the

          8  other side of the hall.

          9                 But next year when we do the budget,

         10  you know, we have some type of an agreement with the

         11  other side that we're going to do it different,

         12  because we're going to have much more communication

         13  with the Council and the Mayor's Office because

         14  that's what we need.

         15                 But let's say if we were able to get

         16  a few more million dollars to the performing arts,

         17  where do you think it should be put?

         18                 MR. EISENBERG: Well, I certainly

         19  think the smaller companies should get the money, I

         20  don't think the larger -- I mean, everybody needs

         21  the money, I don't mean to denigrate the needs of

         22  Lincoln Center.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, you think

         24  the small performing arts companies?

         25                 MR. EISENBERG: Yes, with budgets of
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          2  under $2 million. And budgets of under a million

          3  dollars.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'm just curious

          5  to know where you think the money should go to.

          6  That's, you know --

          7                 MR. EISENBERG: Sorry?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'm just curious

          9  to see where you think the money should go.

         10                 Randy, what do you have to say?

         11                 MR. EISENBERG: Well, if you look at

         12  the Department of Cultural Affairs's budget, the

         13  program budget and some of their annual small

         14  grants, you will see a number of smaller performing

         15  arts organizations. That is probably a good list to

         16  begin to work with, because what you're going to

         17  find in many cases is these organizations get only

         18  token support, whereas CIG institutions often get

         19  substantial support. And there are a lot of ways in

         20  which the support could be provided, not just in the

         21  form of cash grants in effect, but I fully endorse

         22  Norma's suggestion, and we've all been talking about

         23  it for some time, looking into the energy

         24  possibility, the one thing I didn't mention, it

         25  doesn't address the bottom line of any cultural
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          2  institution, but it is vital to the institutional

          3  health of many, and that is the capital budget, and

          4  there I must say, that's one of the few areas in the

          5  City budget where there is some positive news to

          6  report. And a number of smaller appropriations have

          7  received capital appropriations.

          8                 I think we should be systematic in

          9  looking at capital needs as well as expense needs.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Tom? I just want

         11  you to know, Norma is dying to ask you this

         12  question.

         13                 MR. HEALY: I'd like to say something

         14  maybe a little theoretical, because, you know, south

         15  of Canal, we actually regrant a lot of money to

         16  small arts organizations, about 150 of them. And one

         17  of the things --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: 150 million?

         19                 MR. HEALY: 150 organizations south of

         20  Canal. I wish we had $150 million.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I was going to

         22  say that.

         23                 MR. HEALY: But one of the things that

         24  we found very effective is, I think rather than if

         25  you got a couple million more spreading that thinly,
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          2  five, ten, $20,000 per group, if you were to look at

          3  consortiums of theater and performing arts

          4  companies, and make them put together programs that

          5  they would share, where they all benefit together

          6  from somewhat larger grants, whether they're maybe

          7  getting new rehearsal space, or they're sharing

          8  certain kinds of resources, we found it, telling

          9  groups they have to work together to get the money,

         10  has come up with very creative ideas that $5,000,

         11  $10,000 each would get lost and not create any kind

         12  of significant change.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Have you been

         14  successful working with the two groups working

         15  together to accomplish a major goal?

         16                 MR. HEALY: Yes.

         17                 MR. EISENBERG: I have some other

         18  comments.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, I know.

         20                 MR. EISENBERG: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I just wanted to

         22  comment about the Lower Manhattan, about their Swing

         23  program. I saw this program in operation and I think

         24  it's an excellent program. I think anyone who is

         25  interested should call Tom up, because he does an
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          2  excellent job of going downtown, looking for space

          3  that landlords can't rent, or they, you know, are

          4  working out situations. I think it's a great program

          5  and should be followed.

          6                 MR. HEALY: It looked like this

          7  Committee Room is under-utilized. I think we should

          8  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, Alan, you

         10  wanted to say something?

         11                 MR. HEALY: Thank you. Well, you asked

         12  one of the earlier speakers about where have

         13  governments specifically supported some art programs

         14  or the like, and I would cite the State of

         15  Minnesota, and the City of Minneapolis, certainly

         16  who have joined together to build a new building,

         17  largely supported by City and State funding for one

         18  of the fabled theaters in the United States, one of

         19  the first of the regional theaters, not-for-profits,

         20  the Gutherie Theater, and that's a new building

         21  going up in Downtown Minneapolis, which is based on

         22  a State funding, you'll remember that the Governor,

         23  our wrestler, rejected the funding, and then since

         24  he's left office, there's been a resurgence of

         25  interest and that project is now going forward, and
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          2  that building should be in place in a year or two.

          3                 And in terms of a way that might be

          4  able to service Brooklyn or Staten Island, let me

          5  make this suggestion, which in the old, old days are

          6  meeting in the forties and fifties and certainly

          7  earlier, there was what equity called a subway

          8  circuit of theaters in which actors performed in the

          9  summer in various venues in New York City, and I

         10  recall as a very, very small child living in

         11  Brighton Beach, that there was a theater which

         12  divided Brighton Beach and Coney Island.

         13                 It was at the base of Ocean Parkway.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

         15                 MR. EISENBERG: Exactly. The base of

         16  Ocean Parkway and Brighton Beach. So what the

         17  speaker has suggested in various ways, is an

         18  opportunity for venues to be established. Again,

         19  whether it's real estate support, with the theaters

         20  or the like, but it's an old idea, which perhaps

         21  should be reexamined by putting theaters in areas

         22  rather than forcing people to come to Downtown

         23  Brooklyn or Manhattan to see theater, and it would

         24  be a way to bring theater to many communities,

         25  actually, who do not have the vernacular, or the
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          2  dialogue of going to the theater, and that would be

          3  a very valuable kind of asset to the City and to the

          4  respective communities.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Well, while I

          6  have you on this topic. I want to ask you this

          7  question. Is that how would you feel on the far west

          8  side, you know, that's a developing and thriving

          9  area, do you think that would be a good place for

         10  performing arts on the Hudson Yards site perhaps,

         11  with one or two commercial theaters, as well as a

         12  small Off Broadway?

         13                 MR. EISENBERG: It's a perfect idea

         14  and it goes along with what so many speakers have

         15  spoken about. Which is a performing arts area will

         16  vibrate an area. I mean, a couple major musical

         17  houses which commercial theaters could use would be

         18  a fabulous idea, Joe Schoenfeld will come down and

         19  kiss you on your cheek probably, along with some

         20  not-for-profit theaters, or theaters under 490 --

         21  it's a desert, that area right now, and it would be

         22  a totally resurgence for the year. Just look what's

         23  happened in the West 30s right now. There are

         24  theaters being developed between 7th and 9th Avenue

         25  in the West 30s. This is just a natural extension of
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          2  that, and it would be I think very much embraced by

          3  the community.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: The more I talk

          5  to people the more I believe that that would be a

          6  good site.

          7                 We do need more theater space for

          8  non-profit, non-for-profit, for-profit and

          9  performing arts, and developing some buildings

         10  where, you know, space, some rehearsal space and for

         11  artists to come.

         12                 You know, Tom, I have a question for

         13  you. Do you think that creating new Land Use tools

         14  specifically designed to encourage the development

         15  of artist workspace would be helpful?

         16                 MR. HEALY: I didn't hear the first

         17  word.

         18                 MR. EISENBERG: Neither did I.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Creating new

         20  Land Use tools designed to encourage the development

         21  of artists work would be helpful?

         22                 MR. HEALY: I think there's no

         23  question that that would be really, really valuable.

         24                 But I do think that that should

         25  happen within the context of real specific plans,
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          2  and I use Lower Manhattan as an example, because

          3  there was no coordinated sense of how are we going

          4  to use a lot of the land that's getting redeveloped,

          5  and where might we -- let's take the Port Authority,

          6  for example, who wants to build 700,000 square feet

          7  of retail space. They know, and they have a plan,

          8  but that space won't be able to be used and rented

          9  for a ten-year span, all of it. We could be in the

         10  Planning process to make some of that space

         11  available, even five, ten-year periods for arts

         12  usage. So, I think that in that Land Use process we

         13  should be connecting commercial projects and City

         14  Planning as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And Randy?

         16                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Just to add what Tom

         17  is saying, we see very clearly in the cultural field

         18  the power of an institution, and I mean a tiny

         19  institution, as well as a large institution.

         20                 We did a study several years ago, of

         21  the way in which the residents of the Jamaica

         22  community viewed the Jamaica Center for Art and

         23  Culture. And they ranked it higher than jobs, in its

         24  importance to their community, which was amazing to

         25  us. And there are examples like that all around the
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          2  City.

          3                 Tom's suggestion of creating cultural

          4  districts is an opportunity to institutionalize some

          5  of the energy that artists and community-based arts

          6  organizations can bring to a community. I think it's

          7  the best way in our system that government and the

          8  private sector can work together. There's another

          9  example I know you're going to hear about a little

         10  bit later, which is the arts space model which is a

         11  way of working, specifically looking at the space

         12  needs of individual artists, and I think once again,

         13  if the City actively encourages projects like that

         14  in neighborhoods around the City, those will be

         15  centers of positive energy which will be not only

         16  good for their communities, but likely to be

         17  replicated.

         18                 MR. EISENBERG: There are examples all

         19  over the United States of a theater coming into an

         20  area and the area just blooms.

         21                 Milwaukee is just a perfect example

         22  of that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I agree with

         24  you, you know. And on Bay Street in Staten Island,

         25  we have an empty theater that can't be rented out. I

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  don't know if people are aware of it, you know?

          3  Right by the Homeport Theater, that they tried to

          4  put nightclubs in there, they tried putting

          5  everything in there, but I don't understand why

          6  someone doesn't try to put life theater in.

          7                 MR. HEALY: Well, I think this is an

          8  area where your leadership and the Council's in

          9  general can work. Because we're finding that a lot

         10  of people in the commercial real estate community

         11  are actually willing and interested. They're often

         12  looking for ideas to say, all right, we have to get

         13  zoning changes that we need, we're going to have to

         14  provide so many something. But they're not working

         15  within a cultural plan for the area they're

         16  developing. If they knew the right partners to go

         17  to, they knew the general direction that the

         18  cultural community wanted to go where they're

         19  building, they could work much more easily with

         20  them. Now it's project-by-project catches catch can.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So, do you think

         22  that we should have a seminar with real estate

         23  people and the cultural institutions about

         24  developing --

         25                 MR. HEALY: I don't care how we do it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, I'm just

          3  asking.

          4                 MR. HEALY: In Swing Space what we did

          5  was we told brokers who would give us a lot of their

          6  space, people said to me, you'll never get brokers

          7  to come to a thing where they're going to find you

          8  free space, they want the Commission.

          9                 I gave brokers fifty bucks if they

         10  came to breakfast by 8:30, and we had 30 of them in

         11  the room and we got lots of space as a result of

         12  that.

         13                 I think there are ways in which you

         14  can entice them to work with us.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

         16                 Yes, Alan.

         17                 MR. EISENBERG: I did want to mention

         18  a couple of other things.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Go ahead.

         20                 MR. EISENBERG: Go ahead.

         21                 Affordable housing for artists, which

         22  has been mentioned for several times, remains very

         23  high on our agenda, and I will suggest to you why

         24  considerations should be given to actors above in

         25  the question you cited, or the comments you made
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          2  about teachers.

          3                 Separate and apart from the issue --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: This is what has

          5  come back to me. You know what I mean? I'm just

          6  playing the devil's advocate. People, they do this

          7  to me, and that was the first thing thrown in my

          8  face.

          9                 MR. EISENBERG: It's a legitimate

         10  question.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Well, police

         12  officers.

         13                 MR. EISENBERG: And here is your

         14  answer.

         15                 I mean, we know what the arts bring

         16  to New York in terms of money to this City, and the

         17  ancillary industries that live off of performing

         18  arts, the restaurant industry, the hotel industry,

         19  the taxicab industry, so the arts are supporting an

         20  enormous number of industries in this country, so I

         21  believe that entitles us to a certain amount of

         22  consideration. Or on top of that, actors, dancers,

         23  do not have an annual salary. The name of the game

         24  for the performing arts is find a job. It's

         25  everybody is always looking for a job. It's not a
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          2  terrific role, that's later. But finding a job is

          3  what it's all about. And so that's a consideration

          4  do not have which have, who have an annual salary

          5  and a big holiday and all kinds of things, none of

          6  which is given to actors.

          7                 And as part of any affordable housing

          8  scheme that you might wish to consider, we

          9  respectfully hope you will.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'm considering.

         11  I'm going to move on it.

         12                 MR. EISENBERG: But there's a scheme

         13  that we used to have in the federal government,

         14  which could come back in terms of means of income

         15  for artists, actors, which is income average, and

         16  which used to exist in the federal government, it's

         17  out now, but in terms of the rent that an actor

         18  might have to pay in whatever affordable housing

         19  criteria of income range, a range that we've talked

         20  about is between 30 and 60,000 dollars, that income

         21  could be higher one year or lower the next year,

         22  it's standard. So, if there was some scheme of

         23  income averaging in any concept of affordable

         24  housing, that would be greatly to be decided, and I

         25  know --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Tom. We could

          3  end with Tom.

          4                 MR. HEALY: I'll just mention one

          5  quick thing about housing. I think I agree with you.

          6  I have a sister who is a detective and a

          7  sister-in-law who is a teacher, we're going to get

          8  nowhere if we try to pit the arts against the needs

          9  of other moderate and lower-income people who need

         10  to be in the City. But I do think it does come to a

         11  question of location location location. Areas of

         12  this City where artists are interested and willing

         13  to live, are not actually the same ones where police

         14  officers and teachers and other City employees and

         15  lower-income people are willing to work. So, I

         16  think, again, an interesting cultural plan could

         17  look at incentives that are not at the expense of

         18  others because they traditionally look and live in

         19  different neighborhoods. We know from our own

         20  experience, and you could work with developers in

         21  one neighborhood, where, quite frankly, yes, police

         22  officers, teachers and sanitation workers and such

         23  want to live, and maybe it will be an industrial

         24  part of Williamsburg where artists are willing to

         25  live.
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          2                 So, I think we could do both.

          3                 MR. EISENBERG: I don't know if I buy

          4  into that. It sounds like actors would only live in

          5  creepy neighborhoods. Let's put that one aside.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I don't want to

          7  get into this. We heard you loud and clear.

          8                 MR. EISENBERG: We do have an example

          9  of Manhattan Plaza.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, we're well

         11  aware of that.

         12                 MR. EISENBERG: Which was the anchor

         13  of that entire neighborhood, which has gone so far,

         14  but a few other things.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: All right, Alan,

         16  go ahead, sum it up.

         17                 MR. EISENBERG: I'll sum it up. This

         18  has been more fun than just reading a speech.

         19                 Health care costs are obvious.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right, we're

         21  going to work on that.

         22                 MR. EISENBERG: We're going to work on

         23  that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Do you have

         25  anything else that we didn't discuss? Anything new?
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          2                 MR. EISENBERG: You know, the only

          3  other idea that I might suggest to you is that

          4  there's been a lot of interesting ideas here today,

          5  and perhaps you could form some sort of group under

          6  your chairmanship or under staff, that we could kick

          7  some ideas around with you and with the staff, and

          8  maybe that would be, forgive the word, synergistic.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Well, once we

         10  put everything together, what we think we might have

         11  to do is have a roundtable discussion like Theater

         12  Week.

         13                 MR. EISENBERG: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That's one

         15  community we're trying to put together. If anybody

         16  would like to participate in this, we'll make sure

         17  that Mari or Jake or Josh has your name, address and

         18  telephone number.

         19                 MR. EISENBERG: Just this last point

         20  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: This is your

         22  last question.

         23                 MR. EISENBERG: It's like an appellate

         24  argument, which I used to do, the questions are

         25  always interesting. But just this little piece if
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          2  history. The Director of Economic Development of

          3  Fayetteville, Arkansas, said it was important to

          4  bring an equity theater to that City so the City

          5  could lure technical business. Such business wanted

          6  an environment for the employees that included a

          7  strong cultural element. And we're better than

          8  Fayetteville, Arkansas, let me tell you that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you, Alan.

         10  Thank you, Randy. Thank you, Tom, for coming today.

         11                 MR. HEALY: You're very welcome.

         12                 MS. DEPEDRO: For our last panel,

         13  Shawn Patrick McLearen, from Artspace Projects,

         14  Inc.; Eugenie Cowan and David Johnson from Exploring

         15  the Metropolis; Joseph Benincasa, Actors' Fund of

         16  America, and Claire Haaga, Housing and Services,

         17  Inc.

         18                 We need an extra chair.

         19                 Shawn, could you start?

         20                 MR. McLEAREN: Sure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We'll start with

         22  Artspace.

         23                 The light has to be off to be on.

         24                 MR. McLEAREN: First of all, I'd like

         25  to thank you all for having us. This is a wonderful
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          2  opportunity and we thank you very much for thinking

          3  of us and including us in some manner in the

          4  proceedings that you're having today.

          5                 My name is Shawn Patrick McLearen.

          6  I'm a Project Manager for Artspace Projects.

          7  Artspace is located in Minneapolis, Minnesota, as

          8  you've I think heard a little bit about today. We

          9  were asked to address the issues of developing

         10  studio and housing space for artists, best

         11  practices, Land Use strategies, and the long-term

         12  maintenance of affordable housing and studio space.

         13                 In the interest of time, I'd like to

         14  address this list of issues as briefly as possible

         15  while giving a short introduction on Artspace

         16  Projects, on some of the work that we're doing here

         17  in New York City.

         18                 Let me begin with Artspace and the

         19  impact of art projects to the communities in which

         20  they exist.

         21                 The mission of Artspace projects is

         22  to create, foster and observe affordable space for

         23  artists and arts organizations. We pursue this

         24  mission through development projects, asset

         25  management activities, consulting services and
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          2  community building activities that serve artists and

          3  artist organizations in all disciplines, cultures

          4  and economic circumstances.

          5                 By creating this space, Artspace

          6  projects supports the continued professional growth

          7  of artists and enhances the cultural and economic

          8  vitality of the surrounding community.

          9                 Artspace was established in 1979 to

         10  serve as an advocate for artists' space needs.

         11                 By the mid-1980s, however, it was

         12  clear that the problem required a more proactive

         13  approach and so Artspace made the leap from advocate

         14  to developer.

         15                 Artspace is now America's leading

         16  non-profit real estate developer for the arts.

         17                 Eighteen projects have been completed

         18  to date, with another 15 currently in the pipeline.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Shawn, do we

         20  have a copy of what you're reading from?

         21                 MR. McLEAREN: I can provide copy. I

         22  do not have copy with me here, I'm sorry.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay, I just

         24  want to make sure we have everything. Go ahead.

         25                 You said you have 18 projects?
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          2                 MR. McLEAREN: Eighteen have been

          3  completed to date, and there are 15 currently in the

          4  pipeline.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Now, that's all

          6  over?

          7                 MR. McLEAREN: That is across the

          8  country.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Across the

         10  country?

         11                 MR. McLEAREN: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Like the cities

         13  or?

         14                 MR. McLEAREN: I can also provide you

         15  a list. And in fact, I did give you a --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: A packet.

         17                 MR. McLEREN: And there's a map

         18  included.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay. All right,

         20  go ahead.

         21                 MR. McLEREN: We are currently working

         22  a partnership with El Barrio Operation Fight Back on

         23  our first project in New York City, and I'm sorry to

         24  say that our partner Gus Rosabo was not able to come

         25  today. But that's who we're working with here in New
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          2  York City.

          3                 Operation Fight Back is a local East

          4  Harlem CDCN for over 20 years now has done excellent

          5  work in the El Barrio community providing low-income

          6  housing to its residents.

          7                 In the two years since Artspace

          8  received its first grant from the Worhol Foundation,

          9  we have met with artists, community members,

         10  politicians and funders. As I'm sure you could

         11  imagine, we've had a very steep and fruitful

         12  learning curve in the New York City market.

         13                 In October of this year, Manhattan

         14  Community Board 11, voted unanimously in favor of

         15  moving forward with our project. This process led to

         16  our joint partnership with Operation Fight Back to

         17  the fortunate position of being granted site control

         18  by the New York City Housing and Preservation

         19  Department of the PS 109 space located at Third

         20  Avenue and 99th Street.

         21                 With the vital support of the El

         22  Barrio community, the foundation has been laid that

         23  makes it possible for us to now create approximately

         24  65 units of permanently affordable housing for New

         25  York individual artists, and their families.
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          2                 With an emphasis on East Harlem

          3  artists, I want to note here that the vision for

          4  this historic rehab is going to include community

          5  space on the ground floor. That particular part of

          6  the project will be more difficult to fund but will

          7  also be absolutely critical to the community itself.

          8                 Some of the other issues and problems

          9  we face in our work together can be seen in the fact

         10  that New York City is a much bigger and more heated

         11  real estate market than in almost all neighborhoods.

         12                 Competition for development sites is

         13  extremely difficult and very little underutilized

         14  property remains in the City.

         15                 Again, while this situation exists in

         16  other urban areas across the country, it's

         17  particularly difficult in New York City, as you

         18  know.

         19                 In our many discussions and through

         20  opportunities such as your good work here today, we

         21  have come to realize how important space concerns

         22  are to the New York City community, particularly the

         23  development of housing and affordable studio

         24  rehearsal space.

         25                 Our experience in this regard
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          2  suggests that the single biggest difference between

          3  the development of live-work housing space and

          4  studio space per se, is the availability of public

          5  financing resources for studio space.

          6                 Financial resources for affordable

          7  housing are more readily available than resources

          8  for the creation of working studio space. Artspace

          9  has been successful in developing working studio and

         10  rehearsal spaces when the need for such spaces has

         11  generated interest by public and private funders

         12  that then results in the funding for such space.

         13                 However, given the scarcity of such

         14  funding, the long-term stability of studio space is

         15  a significant concern, if a project is completed

         16  without sufficient capital improvements, or capital

         17  reserves, the long-term stability of the project can

         18  be jeopardized by large repair and maintenance costs

         19  over the life of the project, clearly.

         20                 A final concern in this regard is the

         21  financeability of working studio space. While a

         22  lending institution will generally understand

         23  affordable housing financing, working studio

         24  financing can sometimes be perceived as out of the

         25  box and risky, making financing difficult to obtain.
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          2                 Given these issues, Artspace is often

          3  asked about best practices, another issue we were

          4  asked to address today.

          5                 Whether we have encountered

          6  government programs in other cities that directly

          7  addresses the issues of affordable housing for

          8  artists.

          9                 Sadly, we have not encountered direct

         10  government funding programs for affordable artist

         11  housing. However, we have had the good experience of

         12  identifying communities that are willing to identify

         13  artist housing as a priority within the

         14  administration of general housing funding programs.

         15  This is rarely done through a direct statement of

         16  priority relating to artist housing.

         17                 It is most frequently accomplished

         18  through a prioritization of economic development,

         19  mixed use projects, and an emphasis on the

         20  importance of community support, as expressed

         21  through community planning initiatives under

         22  strategic community revitalization plans that do

         23  make specific reference to arts-related development.

         24                 In other words, when a City makes it

         25  a priority enough to steer traditional housing funds
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          2  toward such projects, there is a higher likelihood

          3  of their success.

          4                 While Artspace is only beginning to

          5  explore the New York State Empire Zone Program and

          6  its potential benefits for artist housing

          7  development, we are aware that property tax

          8  exemption programs exist for qualifying non-profit

          9  owned low-income housing within the City of New

         10  York, programs which we will pursue and which we

         11  anticipate the project will benefit from by

         12  decreasing operating costs and increasing our

         13  ability to support mortgage financing and reduced

         14  rentals, rental amounts.

         15                 In any event, it's important to

         16  emphasize that we have found the most important

         17  criteria in the determination of a project's success

         18  or failure is strong community leadership.

         19                 When a strong community leadership

         20  exists for a project, existing financial resources

         21  can be directed to ensure the project's success.

         22                 In terms of Land Use issues, another

         23  topic we were asked to address, we understand that

         24  inclusionary zoning, Artspace zoning and landmarking

         25  under discussion is potential strategies for
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          2  addressing the needs of the arts community.

          3                 While we have not worked in a

          4  community with an active inclusionary zoning

          5  program, we are currently working in the City of

          6  Fort Lauderdale on a project that has many

          7  similarities to inclusionary zoning.

          8                 In the Sailboat Bend Project,

          9  for-profit developers constructing several hundred

         10  market rate condominium units agreed to sell the

         11  development site for 37 affordable artist housing

         12  units to Artspace at nominal cost.

         13                 As you might imagine, the inclusion

         14  of affordable housing and artist housing was an

         15  important part of Broward County's consideration and

         16  approval of the project.

         17                 Similarly, Artspace has not worked

         18  with specific Artspace zoning models. Most of the

         19  work that Artspace has accomplished has used

         20  traditional, multi-family mixed use zoning

         21  regulations.

         22                 However, we applaud your Committee's

         23  interest in exploring the idea of zoning

         24  designations specifically tailored to support

         25  artistic creative uses, and would be happy to assist
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          2  in your efforts in any way that you can find

          3  appropriate.

          4                 In terms of how the landmarking of

          5  industrial sites affect efforts to develop and/or

          6  preserve artist workspace, Artspace has found that

          7  the landmarking of buildings creates another layer

          8  of regulation to be considered in the redevelopment

          9  of a building. It can help or hinder the

         10  redevelopment project, depending upon the proposed

         11  redevelopment of financing needs.

         12                 For example, a federal designation

         13  not only means that redevelopment plans need to

         14  undergo an extensive review process by the Historic

         15  Preservation Office before being sent on to the

         16  development of Department interior, it also means

         17  that the project is eligible to receive historic tax

         18  credits.

         19                 Regardless of the particular

         20  processes involved in the redevelopment of such

         21  sites, designation certainly makes demolition of

         22  buildings more difficult, if not impossible.

         23                 That said, Artspace has found that

         24  historic industrial buildings make good candidates

         25  for adaptive reuse to artists' live-work studio
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          2  space.

          3                 Finally, Mr. Chairman, I want to

          4  briefly address the issues of filling and sustaining

          5  artist live-work facilities.

          6                 In all of our properties we work with

          7  the community to create preference for artist

          8  low-income housing and identify artist low-income

          9  eligibility in a manner that is in accordance with

         10  the Fair Housing Law.

         11                 Specifically, we look to an artist's

         12  previous year and current year incomes to verify

         13  their eligibility for low-income status.

         14                 Taking New York City as an example,

         15  we will undertake a market study to assess local

         16  needs and are in discussions with HPD staff who are

         17  responsible for marketing procedures in order to

         18  adopt local compliance.

         19                 Furthermore, while nine percent and

         20  four percent financing structures have different

         21  area medial incomes requirements associated with

         22  them, it is safe to say that all units in our PS 109

         23  project will serve at or below 60 percent AMI.

         24                 In the effort to maintain and manage

         25  affordable housing studio space, Artspace firmly
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          2  believes that professional property management is a

          3  key element to the long-term sustainability of

          4  affordable artist housing studio space.

          5                 Artspace contracts with a property

          6  management firm for each property in its portfolio.

          7  At the PS 109 project this function will be

          8  undertaken by our partner El Barrio Operation Fight

          9  Back, which has an excellent property management

         10  record in the East Harlem neighborhood.

         11                 In addition, Artspace has an asset

         12  management staff that is responsible for ensuring

         13  that property management is responsive to the needs

         14  of that property.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Shawn, how did

         16  you come into New York City?

         17                 MR. McLEAREN: Personally?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, no, no, no.

         19  The group.

         20                 MR. McLEAREN: The group.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Did the

         22  Administration ask you to come in or the El Barrio?

         23                 MR. McLEAREN: What usually happens

         24  is, it started out years ago that artist

         25  organizations, even just groups of artists would be
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          2  making these calls. Over time it's become

          3  increasingly the case that cities and other groups

          4  are making these calls and saying we have a

          5  building, we have a project, we have a district that

          6  we want addressed. New York was different in some

          7  way. The Worhol Foundation contacted us, actually,

          8  who they were familiar with our work elsewhere in

          9  the country, and asked us if we would come to New

         10  York to explore whether or if the work that we do

         11  elsewhere might be applicable to the conditions of

         12  the system here.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That's very,

         14  very impressive. I'm very impressed with your group,

         15  and I think you're going to be a great benefit to

         16  the City. We look forward to working with you.

         17                 MR. McLEAREN: Just in closing, I just

         18  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

         20                 MR. McLEAREN: We really do want to

         21  say that the work that we've done to date, which is

         22  short, I mean the two years that we've really been

         23  active, we look at how far we've come and it's

         24  stunning. But we want to acknowledge and thank all

         25  of our colleagues and the City for the genuine
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          2  support that we received, the spirit of it, we feel

          3  that there's a genuine interest and concern in

          4  moving these issues forward.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Are you looking

          6  at any other sites, besides the one in El Barrio?

          7                 MR. McLEAREN: No, not currently.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay. All right.

          9                 Thank you. It's very, very

         10  impressive, and I want to thank you for working with

         11  my Committee and talking to them.

         12                 MR. McLEAREN: It's been a great

         13  pleasure. Mari and Josh have been very helpful for

         14  us as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay, thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Exploring the

         17  Metropolis is next.

         18                 MS. COWAN: Thank you, Chairman

         19  Recchia, and good afternoon. I'm Eugenie Cowan,

         20  Director of Exploring the Metropolis.

         21                 With me to my right, to your left, is

         22  David Johnston, or Program Administrator.

         23                 We are a facilitator. We really

         24  facilitate between the users of space and those who

         25  need space, and this has been our pattern since we
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          2  began years ago.

          3                 We are a non-profit organization that

          4  hosts free websites to help performers find work

          5  space and cultural facilities to rent their

          6  under-used space. This is obviously a double

          7  benefit. Performers spend less search time and find

          8  better deals and facilities market their spaces and

          9  produce earned income.

         10                 We built the NYC Music and Dance

         11  Places websites earlier in this decade and when we

         12  built them we got a cross-section of each group

         13  performing the performers and the facilities and

         14  performers we had the cross section by geographic

         15  location, by size of group, by genre that they

         16  perform, and in the facilities we have not only the

         17  professional venues but also non-traditional ones,

         18  such as libraries, cultural centers, religious and

         19  educational institutions.

         20                 We've used these cross-sections to

         21  help build the websites because we develop

         22  priorities based on the user's needs, and that we

         23  feel is very important.

         24                 We will be doing the same for the

         25  theater places website.
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          2                 As of January 1, we are changing our

          3  name so it is clearer what we do and we will

          4  henceforth be known as NYC Performing Arts Spaces.

          5                 MR. JOHNSTON: Eugenia has spoken a

          6  little bit about who we are, I just wanted to very

          7  briefly reiterate a couple of the things that we do

          8  and touch upon a couple of other other ideas people

          9  have spoken of today. Again, these are things you've

         10  clearly already heard at various points, so, you

         11  know, we'll try to keep these brief.

         12                 It's important when you're talking

         13  about the performing arts, you're really talking

         14  about an ecosystem of commonalities, everybody is

         15  really dealing with the same issues. They're alive,

         16  they need spaces to create, rehearse and to perform

         17  for an audience, they have little time, they have

         18  less money, they are increasingly collaborative with

         19  each other and very technology savvy.

         20                 Now, by year's end, 65,000 visitors

         21  will have used our NYC Music and NYC Dance Places

         22  websites. The websites currently list over 1,200

         23  spaces for hourly, daily, weekly or monthly rental

         24  in the five boroughs.

         25                 Now, we have a great deal of data
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          2  from these websites and we can supply several things

          3  that we know to be true.

          4                 The average requested rental rate,

          5  hourly rehearsal rate is $20 an hour. So, clearly

          6  people are looking to save as much money as they

          7  can.

          8                 We also know that an average 90

          9  percent of the searchers find at least one suitable

         10  space. There are a lot more data and statistics in

         11  your packets that we provided you.

         12                 The one thing that we would want to

         13  emphasize, which really everybody has said, is we

         14  need a coordinated Citywide cultural infrastructure

         15  policy with really the participation of everybody,

         16  guided by a representative task force of active

         17  performing arts practitioners, people in the field,

         18  people who do this for a living, and work at this

         19  every day, and cultural facilities managers.

         20                 Three things we wanted to propose. We

         21  need a capital financing mechanism for small and

         22  mid-sized organizations to support basic short-term

         23  needs. Some examples would be the costs of moving,

         24  the costs of finding shared office rehearsal or

         25  performance space, a no-interest loan program for
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          2  facilities with emergency needs.

          3                 Second, NYSCA's rehearsal space

          4  subsidy program. It's very important government

          5  operational support that we should copy. In FY '05,

          6  NYSCA grants from, ranging from 2,500 to 24,000 to

          7  17 non-profit organizations, provided over 30,000

          8  subsidized or free rehearsal hours to the dance

          9  community.

         10                 We need this double benefit for

         11  practitioners and facilities for music and theater

         12  as well.

         13                 And, third, we need the City Planning

         14  Department to really look at carefully targeted

         15  zoning and how that can strengthen the performing

         16  arts. In districts such as BAM, in new developments,

         17  and adapted uses, and for all this we feel that DCA

         18  needs major new funding.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: They got lots of

         20  money.

         21                 MR. JOHNSTON: We're just swimming in

         22  money.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Listen. You

         24  know, we invited the State down here today but they

         25  couldn't make it. I'm glad you brought up their
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          2  program. You know, it's a good program.

          3                 MR. JOHNSTON: We actually added a

          4  function to our website where people can click a

          5  button and find all of the NYSCA subsidized spaces,

          6  so we feel it's an excellent program.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: But let me ask

          8  you a question, if we were to introduce a program

          9  like that, would that prevent other organizations

         10  from getting money from both the City and the State?

         11                 Because DCA for small operations,

         12  right? Some of the grants, if you get money from

         13  City Council, over a certain amount they're not

         14  going to give you anymore money.

         15                 MR. JOHNSTON: Right.

         16                 MS. COWAN: I think this would have to

         17  be a dedicated program, just the way it is, at

         18  NYSCA's dance program, it does not compete with

         19  program money that the organizations get.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right, okay.

         21                 MR. JOHNSTON: And the thing that is

         22  important to remember is that the organizations are

         23  providing a service as well in exchange for the

         24  money.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Have you spoken
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          2  to the Commissioner about this?

          3                 MS. COWAN: We have not. But what we

          4  do know is it would require a staff person working

          5  probably a third, maybe a quarter to a third of the

          6  time, and I don't know that they have staff

          7  capability for that now.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: This is

          9  something that I would definitely like to talk to

         10  you more about, you know. We're interested in this.

         11                 Okay, next.

         12                 I'm going to come back. I have more

         13  questions for everybody, so I'm not finished.

         14                 MR. BENINCASA: Terrific. My name is

         15  Joseph Benincasa. I'm the Executive Director of the

         16  Actors' Fund of America. I just want to recognize

         17  two key staff people who are with me today, and

         18  that's Barbara Davis, our Chief Program Officer, and

         19  Ina Clarke, our Chief Fundraising Officer.

         20                 The Actors' Fund is headquartered in

         21  New York City.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: They should be

         23  up here.

         24                 MR. BENINCASA: Excuse me?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: The fundraiser
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          2  coordinator should be up here.

          3                 MR. BENINCASA: Absolutely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: She's the key

          5  person. I guess we'll hear from her in the budget

          6  season.

          7                 MR. BENINCASA: You will.

          8                 But the Actors' Fund is headquartered

          9  in New York City, and it's a national non-profit

         10  human service organization that provides for the

         11  welfare of all performing arts and entertainment

         12  professionals. It was founded in 1882, and the fund

         13  serves everyone, not just actors, who work in

         14  theater, film, television, radio, music, opera,

         15  circus and dance.

         16                 Entertainment professionals do not

         17  need to be in the guilds or unions or be members of

         18  the fund to use our services, and our programs

         19  address the unique needs of the community with

         20  comprehensive social services, health services,

         21  supportive and affordable housing, employment and

         22  training services, and skilled nursing and assisted

         23  living care.

         24                 The fund also makes emergency grants

         25  for essential needs. We directly help more than
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          2  8,000 people every year, including 4,000 New

          3  Yorkers.

          4                 Because of the limited time, I'm

          5  focusing my comments today on access to health

          6  insurance and health care and employment and

          7  training and affordable housing.

          8                 In the late 1990s, the Actors' Fund

          9  responded to an RFP from the National Endowment for

         10  the Arts for the Establishment of a Health Insurance

         11  Resource Center for the uninsured in the visual and

         12  performing arts.

         13                 This seed grant and support from the

         14  Commonwealth Fund, New York Hospital Fund, and the

         15  New York Community Trust, created our Artist Health

         16  Insurance Resource Center.

         17                 The Resource Center helps artists

         18  through a website, seminars and individual

         19  counseling. It is free, state-by-state database,

         20  used by more than 300,000 visitors per year, and

         21  offers up-to-date information about getting and

         22  keeping health insurance and finding quality

         23  affordable healthcare when you are uninsured.

         24                 The website offers over 9,000

         25  resources and targeted information, including health
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          2  plans and financial assistance, plans for low-income

          3  professionals, seniors, the disabled and much more.

          4                 And the website also offers

          5  information on rights and protections, complaints,

          6  appeals and policy.

          7                 The fund also offers insurance

          8  workshops at our offices and by invitation around

          9  the country, and the Council is advised on options

         10  for getting health insurance, accessing medical

         11  care.

         12                 We work with more than 1,200 artists

         13  each year, many of whom don't qualify for benefits

         14  and cannot afford insurance. Often they either avoid

         15  getting needed care, or face high medical bills and

         16  ruinous debt.

         17                 We see this clearly at the Actors'

         18  Fund's Al Hirschfeld Free Health Clinic. The Clinic,

         19  associated with the Center for Family Medicine at

         20  Columbia University Medical Center, provides free

         21  primary and preventive care for uninsured performing

         22  arts professionals with more than 1,300 patients and

         23  2,000 doctor visits this past year.

         24                 Visits also include a session with

         25  our full-time insurance counselor to identify
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          2  insurance options.

          3                 The number of uninsured in the arts

          4  in New York remains high. New ways must be found

          5  through subsidies, new insurance products, or

          6  expanded eligibility for state programs to guarantee

          7  access to quality medical care.

          8                 In 2004, Working Today published an

          9  article based on their own research that show that

         10  88 percent of the arts workers struggle to afford

         11  health insurance, and 54 percent of artists in New

         12  York City experience gaps in coverage. Of those, 86

         13  percent avoided seeking medical care. While

         14  independent workers earn an average of $45,000, New

         15  York City's artists median income is $30,000, with

         16  41 percent earning less than $25,000 a year.

         17                 Artists fall through a widening hole

         18  in the safety net. They earn too much to qualify for

         19  State programs, but not enough to afford private

         20  self pay coverage.

         21                 In 2000, the Actors' Fund began

         22  working with a coalition of entertainment industry

         23  unions, organizations and service providers, to

         24  address this problem. And in 2004, the New York

         25  State COBRA Continuation Legislation, a
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          2  demonstration project providing a 50 percent COBRA

          3  subsidy to eligible industry participants was

          4  passed.

          5                 Since January, 527 applicants were

          6  approved for the subsidy of $692,000 was provided

          7  and the 12-month projected payout is almost $1.3

          8  million. Innovative ideas, particularly ways to

          9  expand eligibility to government programs, such as

         10  Healthy New York, is still needed and the support

         11  and leadership of City government is critical.

         12                 Another critical issue is finding a

         13  meaningful sideline career that keeps people working

         14  while pursuing their craft.

         15                 This is the goal of the Actors' Work

         16  Program. The October 28th City Council hearing

         17  notice states that the cultural, quote, cultural

         18  labor pool, of non-profit performing arts

         19  organizations, endures uncertainty and employment

         20  because of the episodic nature of work, because

         21  wages are low, and there's a lack of affordable

         22  housing and practically no health insurance.

         23                 The Actors' Fund, the Actors' Work

         24  Program provides services to resolve this issue

         25  through career counseling, job training and job
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          2  placement, AWP assists our community in making a

          3  living, using the unique talents and skills in

          4  industries as diverse as government, tourism,

          5  education, social services and employment services.

          6                 One example of how AWP works is with

          7  the Department of Education's Projects Arts Vendors

          8  to bring the arts to public school children, using

          9  them as a vehicle to develop literacy and leadership

         10  skills, and helping prevent drug abuse and violence.

         11  In a special collaborative initiative with the NYC

         12  Department of Education, AWP clients are working as

         13  special substitute teachers delivering standard

         14  literacy curriculum, using theater and drama

         15  techniques.

         16                 The success of the Actors' Work

         17  Program is due to our partnerships and collaborative

         18  efforts with other organizations. And I'd like to

         19  thank the Council for their support of the

         20  Consortium For Worker Education, whose funds have

         21  allowed us to provide programs, including computer

         22  classes, arts and education, train the trainer

         23  program, and our English as a Second Language

         24  Teacher Training Program.

         25                 We have also worked closely with the
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          2  SBC -- SBS, excuse me, helping our clientele access

          3  one-stop services and supporting them in their

          4  efforts to start their own businesses.

          5                 What needs next to happen? We would

          6  like to commend the City, the City Council on its

          7  partnership with United Way in creating New York

          8  City Works. This initiative will contribute to

          9  bringing needed employment training programs to New

         10  York's neediest residents.

         11                 It is important, however, that the

         12  City's workforce development policies be inclusive

         13  of all New Yorkers.

         14                 We recommend that the Council

         15  implement programs that support the City's growing

         16  contingent workforce. Because of our years of

         17  experience in developing programs for a freelance

         18  workforce, the Actors' Fund would welcome being an

         19  elite partner in such an initiative.

         20                 As you and your colleagues continue

         21  to assess the workforce and economic development

         22  needs of our City, we know that hard decisions need

         23  to be made.

         24                 We urge you to recognize the

         25  significant contributions made to New York, by those
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          2  directly employed in the entertainment industry, was

          3  well as those who participate in the cultural life

          4  of our City. New York could not be New York without

          5  them.

          6                 The lack of affordable housing has

          7  been one of the greatest hardships for arts workers

          8  in New York City.

          9                 Over the past few years, the Actors

         10  fund has offered monthly seminars on finding

         11  affordable housing, which includes applying for

         12  80/20s, information on HPD, the Housing Authority

         13  Section 8 apartment search tips and housing leads.

         14                 We also provide information on

         15  short-term stays, roommates, subleasing and Housing

         16  Court.

         17                 With the launch of our new website in

         18  January 2006, the fund will offer an on-line housing

         19  resource center that includes a housing bulletin

         20  board.

         21                 While the fund has offered senior

         22  housing since 1902, when we opened a retirement home

         23  in Staten Island, our first opportunity to provide

         24  affordable supportive housing in New York City was

         25  ten years ago when with Housing Services, Inc. as
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          2  our developers, we opened the Aurora, 178-unit

          3  building on West 57th Street. The Aurora, a

          4  low-income tax credit project, provides housing to

          5  working industry members, those living with

          6  HIV/AIDS, and seniors in a safe, affordable and

          7  conveniently located building.

          8                 In two weeks, the Actors' Fund, in

          9  partnership with Common Ground Community, will break

         10  ground for Schermerhorn House, a 217-unit affordable

         11  housing building in downtown Brooklyn. Half of these

         12  residents will be targeted to low-income workers

         13  from the performing arts community. The building

         14  will have a 2,000 square foot community room

         15  designed like a black box theater, and will be

         16  available to residents as well as community art

         17  organizations for shows, rehearsals and

         18  performances, films, exhibitions and other cultural

         19  activities.

         20                 But we need to do more. Middle-income

         21  workers, those earning between 25,000 and $75,000 a

         22  year, have been priced out of the market. Those

         23  working in the performing arts often go to work at

         24  five in the morning for a shoot or come home from

         25  theater at midnight. In a typical day they may be at
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          2  an audition, an agent's office, a rehearsal and a

          3  class. They need access to public transportation and

          4  reasonable commuting time.

          5                 I just want to applaud the City

          6  Council's commitment to addressing these critical

          7  issues that face the performing arts community in

          8  New York City. We welcome your public/private

          9  partnership in supporting the arts by caring for the

         10  artist. We look forward to working closely with you

         11  and the arts community on the issues that challenge

         12  us as we support New York as the cultural capital of

         13  our country.

         14                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, and I want

         16  to thank you for the great work that you're doing.

         17  The unit that you're building on Schermerhorn

         18  Street, the 217 unit, that's for housing and for

         19  rehearsal or for?

         20                 MR. BENINCASA: It's for housing and

         21  reorganizing with the local arts communities,

         22  non-profit community to have a community room, and

         23  beautiful black box theater. But it's a

         24  non-commercial space and it will be available for

         25  rehearsals and for community activities, as well as

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  activities in support of the residents who are

          3  living there.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I want to thank

          5  you for coming here today. I heard a lot of good

          6  things about your group. I'm not going to say from

          7  who, but I think you know who, and because it wasn't

          8  up until a few days ago that I heard about this

          9  project, and I'm glad that you're here today,

         10  because we would like to work more with you on

         11  seeing how we could work together.

         12                 MR. BENINCASA: Well, that's why we're

         13  here. We want to work more with you and with the

         14  entire arts community.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right. We want

         16  to see, you know, how this project got off the

         17  ground and how it got started, and about how it was

         18  targeted for performing artists, and so I will be

         19  talking to you.

         20                 MR. BENINCASA: Sure. I'll send along

         21  to you and to your Committee about how we got it

         22  going and where we're going.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes. I think

         24  it's very important. I think you can be instrumental

         25  in helping us.
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          2                 MR. BENINCASA: Terrific.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: In moving other

          4  projects forward.

          5                 MR. BENINCASA: Okay, thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 MS. HAAGA ALTMAN: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chairman, members of the Committee. I'm Claire Haaga

          9  Altman, President of Housing and Services, Inc., a

         10  non-profit developer and manager of affordable

         11  housing in New York City.

         12                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         13  offer testimony before this Committee, and I applaud

         14  the Committee for holding these hearings to elicit

         15  the viewpoints on the many needs, but in particular,

         16  for housing for New Yorkers working in the arts and

         17  cultural community.

         18                 HSI has been developing and managing

         19  affordable housing in New York City for 18 years.

         20  During this time, we have participated in most of

         21  the Federal, State and City financing programs, as

         22  well as those that provide service dollars for

         23  tenants of low cost and affordable housing.

         24                 There have been two major areas of

         25  emphasis over these almost two decades: one has been
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          2  to create supportive housing for homeless persons

          3  and those with a range of disabilities; and the

          4  second has been a home ownership program at the

          5  various levels of household incomes.

          6                 But one major area that has emerged

          7  as one of great need is that of affordable rental

          8  housing for households earning between 25 and 65,000

          9  dollars per year.

         10                 Within this sizable population for

         11  whom this housing would be most suitable, are

         12  persons involved in the performing arts community.

         13                 I don't need to recount to you the

         14  statistics that document the importance of these

         15  dedicated artists to New York City's cultural

         16  landscape and to the City's economy. These are

         17  well-recognized facts.

         18                 What's often forgotten, however, is

         19  that the dedicated artists who make New York City

         20  the performing arts capital of the nation and of the

         21  world are in the main individuals who earn less than

         22  the City's annual median income of 62,5. The

         23  majority of these individuals who are able to earn a

         24  living in the performing arts make between 25 and

         25  60,000 dollars annual. At these income levels they
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          2  cannot afford to live in New York, unless they've

          3  been living here for 25 years and are lucky enough

          4  to land a rent stabilized apartment, have not had a

          5  rent increase, an increase in their family size and

          6  have not moved.

          7                 These conditions may apply to those

          8  over 55, if they came to New York in their 20s and

          9  held onto their first apartment. But what about

         10  younger artists and people who didn't get an

         11  apartment 25 or 30 years ago.

         12                 HSI has been engaged by Actors'

         13  Equity, you heard from Alan Eisenberg earlier, to

         14  assist this major union in the City to help them

         15  figure out how to create affordable housing for

         16  members.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I just want to

         18  recognize Eric Gioia, who is with us.

         19                 MS. HAAGA ALTMAN: And as Joe

         20  Benincasa just said, we served as the developer ten

         21  years ago for the Actors' Fund in creating a project

         22  called the Aurora on 57th and Tenth.

         23                 But today what we desperately need

         24  are incentives for developers, both for-profit and

         25  non-profit, to build and operate rental housing for
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          2  those in the performing arts who earn between 25 and

          3  65,000 dollars per year.

          4                 We also need to come up with

          5  approaches that permit income averaging over three

          6  to five years, so that artists who have employment

          7  in the arts one year and are waiting tables the next

          8  year, are not excluded from housing because they are

          9  over income one year but barely making it the next.

         10                 The success of Manhattan Plaza is

         11  legendary, but unfortunately, programs like the HUD

         12  project-based section eight program have ended.

         13                 It is not likely that the federal

         14  government will create another deep subsidy program

         15  such as this.

         16                 However, we believe it is within the

         17  purview of the City and the State to create programs

         18  that provide deep development rather than rental

         19  subsidies. But keeping debt service on a project to

         20  a minimum, the projects can be financially feasible

         21  at rent levels that the performing arts community

         22  members can afford to pay.

         23                 It is also important to build into

         24  such programs conditions of permanent affordability.

         25  We are witnessing the conversion to market rate
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          2  housing in tens of thousands of housing units that

          3  were built with 20- and 30-year affordability

          4  restrictions, such as the Mitchell-Lama Program. In

          5  the life of a housing project, 20 to 30 years is not

          6  a long time.

          7                 Unfortunately, the expectation that

          8  when affordability restrictions on these projects

          9  expire there would be other affordable housing to

         10  replace them has not borne out.

         11                 It is a fair exchange, we believe, to

         12  have a longer, say 99-year use restriction in return

         13  for very low cost financing provided by the City or

         14  the State.

         15                 Such provisions may inhibit the entry

         16  of private developers into this market, but today

         17  there are hundreds, as you've heard today, of able

         18  non-profit housing development groups that can build

         19  for this sector of the market.

         20                 I would also encourage the City to

         21  consider a program of payments in lieu of taxes for

         22  affordable housing developments targeted at this

         23  income range of performing artists. Below market

         24  taxes are key to projects such as this being

         25  financially feasible.
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          2                 In closing, I'd like to thank the

          3  Chairman of the Committee for the foresight to hold

          4  these hearings and to bring the issues of affordable

          5  housing for the performing arts community to the

          6  public's attention.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I want to thank

          9  you.

         10                 One thing that comes to my mind that

         11  I think is important, after hearing everyone testify

         12  today, is that I think we need to have a meeting

         13  just dealing with housing. You know, because I mean

         14  I hear what you say and I hear what the Actors' Fund

         15  of America is doing, and I think that if we can

         16  bring together a few other people, just focus on

         17  housing.

         18                 Because my attorney to the right is

         19  an artist, you know, and she loved what she just

         20  heard, Claire. She goes, "that's what I need." But,

         21  you're right, everybody thinks about condos and

         22  co-ops and Mitchell-Lamas, and this and that, but

         23  you know what? We need a rental building that will

         24  be around here for 99 years. I think you make a very

         25  good point.
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          2                 Everybody, you know, Mitchell-Lamas,

          3  they want everything to go private. Everybody thinks

          4  who live in Mitchell-Lamas that government is here

          5  to make a windfall for everybody, you know?

          6                 In my district I have one of the

          7  largest number of Mitchell-Lamas that are going to

          8  go private in the years to come, and I'm getting

          9  bombarded.

         10                 You know, I mean one of my, Warbasse

         11  Houses, where over 10,000 people live, they just put

         12  the vote up and lost. They lost. Once people heard,

         13  because these buildings were made for senior

         14  citizens, and lost the vote. Once people realize

         15  that if you own it, and you have to replace, it's 28

         16  stories, you have to replace all those bricks, or do

         17  -- you have to pay for it. Right now all they're

         18  paying is like $300 a month rent. I think people

         19  have to realize this, but you brought a very, very,

         20  very good point.

         21                 Joe, you said something that no one

         22  else said. It says that you reached out to the SBS,

         23  Rob Walsh, Small Business Services, in helping you.

         24  You're the first person that said that they did

         25  that.
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          2                 How did they help you? I'm just

          3  curious.

          4                 MR. BENINCASA: They provided us very

          5  good counsel. They directed us to funding sources.

          6  They're very interested in our workforce in helping

          7  us provide parallel and secondary careers. So, they

          8  provided great counsel. They're great friends.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'm glad to hear

         10  that because no one else said that today.

         11                 Because too many times artists and

         12  performing arts centers, little theaters and little

         13  businesses -- it's a little business. Even artists,

         14  you know, you're going to draw your paintings and

         15  sell them, it's a little business, and we have to

         16  get more -- I think that's an avenue and revenue and

         17  grants that are out there for artists, and I think

         18  we have to make that more known on how they could

         19  use the services, Small Business Services.

         20                 MR. BENINCASA: I think every artist

         21  is kind of a sole proprietor, you know, his or her

         22  own business and they've got to think that way.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I just want to

         24  thank all of you for coming today, because you

         25  really gave us great insight. You gave us new ideas.

                                                            119

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  We're going to take these ideas and run with them.

          3  Everything is on hold now until after January 4th,

          4  the vote of the Speaker, and God-willing the new

          5  Speaker appoints me Chair of this wonderful

          6  Committee, because I do enjoy this. But I just want

          7  to thank everyone for participating, thank you for

          8  working with my Committee, your ideas are great, you

          9  just did not waste your time coming here today. I

         10  want you to all know that, you did not waste your

         11  time coming here today. We've got a lot of good

         12  ideas, with a lot to work with, now we just have to

         13  make something happen, and that's what we're here

         14  for.

         15                 I just want everyone to know is that

         16  last year was my first budget, under my leadership

         17  we were able to improve and increase the funding

         18  before the performing arts in the Cultural Affairs

         19  overall budget.

         20                 But I do hear what is needed is more

         21  money, some more groups, more groups to get funded.

         22                 I want to thank you all. Thank you

         23  for coming today, and look forward to working with

         24  you all next year.

         25                 And I hope everyone has a happy and
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          2  healthy holiday season.

          3                 MR. BENINCASA: Thank you very much.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 3:40 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 7th day of December 2005.
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